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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007
Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 98-0181725
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

Innospec Manufacturing Park

Oil Sites Road

Ellesmere Port

Cheshire

United Kingdom CH65 4EY
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code : 011-44-151-355-3611
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange on

Title of each class which reqistered

N/A N/A
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (g) of the Act:  Common stock, par value $0.01 per share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes
No X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes

No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes X

No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not
be contained, to the best of registrant’'s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Il|
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [1]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company (as defined in Rule 12b — 2 of the Act).

Large accelerated fil

Accelerated file X

Non-accelerated file

Smaller reporting compa




Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes

No X

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most
recently completed second fiscal quarter (June 30, 2007) was approximately $402 million, based on the closing price of the
common shares on the NASDAQ Stock Market on June 29, 2007. Shares of common stock held by each officer and director and by
each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be
deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.

As of February 15, 2008, 23,710,030 shares of the registrant’s common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of Innospec Inc.’s Proxy Statement forAlnaual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on Mag®08 are incorporated by reference
into Part 11l of this Form 1-K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statemémsthin the meaning of the Private Securities g4ttion Reform
Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements includestditements which address operating performaneateor
developments that we expect or anticipate will oacuhe future, including, without limitation, adif the Company’s
guidance for revenues, gross margins, net incordetirer measures of financial performance. Althosigth
statements are believed by management to be rddeamiaen made, caution should be exercised ndatepndue
reliance on forward-looking statements, which afgject to certain risks, uncertainties and asswnptilf the risks or
uncertainties ever materialize or the assumptioogepincorrect, actual results may differ mateyidflbm those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking staets and assumptions. Risks, assumptions and aimter$
include, without limitation, changes in the ternfigrading with significant customers or gain orddkereof, our ability
to continue to achieve organic growth in our Fys&alties and Active Chemicals businesses, olityatm
successfully integrate any acquisitions in thosgrimss segments, the effects of changing governragulations and
economic and market conditions, competition andhgka in demand and business and legal risks inhiereon-U.S.
activities, including political and economic une@nty, import and export limitations and markeksiselated to
changes in interest rates and foreign exchangs, @&ernment investigations, material fines oeothenalties
resulting from the Company'voluntary disclosure to the Office of Foreign étssControl of the U.S. Department of
Treasury, the investigation by the Securities anchBnge Commission and the U.S. Department ofciustto the
Company’s participation in the United Nations @it Food Program or other regulatory actions andratisks,
uncertainties and assumptions identified in the gamy’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eéhde
December 31, 2007 and those identified in the Cowyigadther reports filed with the Securities anccEange
Commission. The Company undertakes no obligatigrutwicly update or revise any forward-looking staents,
whether as a result of new information, future éy@m otherwise.
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PART |
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms the “Corporation,” “CompariRégistrant,” “we,” “us” and “our,” unless otherse indicated
or the context otherwise requires, we are referanignnospec Inc. and its consolidated subsidigfiesmospec”).

General

Innospec Inc. develops, manufactures, blends amketsafuel additives and other specialty chemidals. products are
sold primarily to oil refineries and other chemieald industrial companies throughout the world. fDet additives
help improve fuel efficiency, boost engine perfonoa and reduce harmful emissions. Our specialtynadads provide
effective technology-based solutions for our cusishprocesses or products focused in the Per&aral, Household,
Industrial & Institutional; Fragrance Ingredien®astics & Polymers and Pulp & Paper markets.

Our principal executive offices are in EllesmeretPdnited Kingdom. We became an independent compan
May 22, 1998, when we were spun off from our tharept corporation Chemtura Corporation, previokslgwn as
Great Lakes Chemical Corporation. We changed omerfaom Octel Corp. to Innospec Inc. on January2806. On
March 21, 2006 we transferred the listing of oumamon stock from the New York Stock Exchange (“NY $t'the
Nasdaq Stock Marke“NASDAQ”).

Segmental | nformation

Innospec divides its business into three distiegnsents for both management and reporting purpéses$:Specialties,
Active Chemicals (previously Performance Chemiealexplained below) and Octane Additives. The Bpelcialties
and Active Chemicals businesses both operate iketsawhere we actively seek growth opportunitiéeiitheir end
customers are very different. The Octane Additivesiness, although still profitable, is charactliby substantial
declining demand.

On October 1, 2007 the Company announced a fustheamlining of its fast-growing Performance Chatsdivision
into a unified, sales-led global business focusedapidly meeting customers’ needs anywhere iretlgeographical
regions and five core industry sectors. This letheosegment being re-branded under the banneiv&Ghemicals.”
The five core industry sectors are Personal Capeisehold, Industrial & Institutional; Fragrance regients; Plastics
Polymers and Pulp & Paper markets.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthlends and markets a range of specialty chemioducts used
additives to a wide range of fuels. The businessigpizes in supplying fuel additives that help noye fuel efficiency,
boost engine performance and
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reduce harmful emissions. The business’ produetsised in the efficient operation of automotiverime@and aviation
engines (“Avtel”), power station generators, andthg and diesel particulate filter systems.

Historically, through to the end of 2004, the bess had grown through a program of acquisitions pltogram has
included the establishment in 1999 of a 50% ownetd yenture with Starreon LLC to sell fuel addésvin the U.S. ar
the subsequent acquisition of the remaining 50%atf joint venture in July 2004. Innospec Fuel $ees LLC
(previously known as Octel Starreon LLC) operatetha regional hub of the Fuel Specialties Amermasiness. The
Company has also established a joint venture indpec Valvemaster Limited (“Valvemaster”). Valvemeasnarkets
an anti valve seat recession additive.

More recently growth in the Fuel Specialties bussieas been driven by new product developmentdread what we
believe are the key drivers in demand for fuel adels. These key drivers are legislation, poputaaéfluence, and
energy price and availability. We have devoted s&riml resources to the development of new andaoxgs products
that may be used to improve fuel efficiency. Acéogtly in our Fuel Specialties segment 43% of olesa 2007 were
derived from products developed during the prevituesyears.

Active Chemicals

Our Active Chemicals business provides effectivht®logy-based solutions for our customers’ praegess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indusriaktitutional; Fragrance Ingredients; Plastic&lymers and
Pulp & Paper markets.

Historically the business has grown through a maogof acquisitions. This program has included tepussition of
Finetex, Inc. in January 2005, Innospec Widnes tath{previously known as Aroma Fine Chemicals Léajtin
August 2004 and Innospec Leuna GmbH in June 200Betember 2005, the Company disposed of two noa-co
businesses, Octel Performance Chemicals Inc. an@émlen Industries SA waste water treatment bssirtefective
January 1, 2007 the businesses of Finetex, IncPam@hem Chemicals, Inc. were merged into Innogutive
Chemicals LLC (previously known as Innospec Perforoe Chemicals U.S. Co.).

The Active Chemicals business intends to develgh pberformance products from its technology baseptemented
by selective acquisitions to achieve critical mass number of markets.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives business is the world’s onlydocer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”). The Octane Atdeks business
comprises sales of TEL for use in automotive gasadind trading in respect of our environmental #at®n busines:

TEL was first developed in 1928 and introduced ihi® European market for internal combustion ergytneéboost
octane levels in gasoline allowing it to burn mef&ciently and

4
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eliminating engine knock. It also acts as a lubyiaid reducing engine wear. Worldwide use of THis kleclined since
1973 following the enactment of the U.S. CleanAat of 1970 and similar legislation in other couest The trend of
countries exiting the leaded gasoline market haglted in a general rate of decline in volume teimtbe last few
years of between 10% and 25% per annum. The desliperienced in 2006 was greater than this genange due to
the decision of South Africa to exit the marketdise of TEL in automotive gasoline from the st&r2@06. The decline
experienced in 2007 was less than this generakrdog to the fact that no significant customerehated the market
for use of TEL in automotive gasoline since theislen of South Africa. The predicted remaining sabéthe Octane
Additives business are now concentrated in a vaitismall number of customers and therefore mayirtewith
unpredictable volatility and severity.

We intend to manage the decrease in the saleslofdriise in automotive gasoline to maximize thshctiow through
the decline. Continuous cost improvement measwaes heen, and will continue to be, taken to resgortclining
market demand.

Our environmental remediation business assist®est to manage the clean up of the associateddadtiplants as
refineries complete the change to unleaded fuel.

Strategy

We have worked for several years to counteractiéiodine of the Octane Additives business by comiirsucost
improvement and continuing to leverage and orgdlgigeow the Fuel Specialties and Active Chemidalsinesses.
Our strategy is to continue to develop new and awed technologies to capitalize on the market mrsthat we have
developed in these industries to increase our sal@gprofitability while continuing to manage tlamaining Octane
Additives business to maximize the cash flow thiotlge decline. We have many organic opportunitegfowth in
the near term from both geographical and produetdixtensions. Acquisitions in these businesseslsoea primary
focus for us. We believe the industries in whichst businesses operate provide the greatest oppiegdor a good
return on investments, including associated syesrgvhile minimizing risk by investing in those rkets where we
have operating knowledge and experience.

Raw Materials and Product Supply

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsimmanufacturing and blending processes and leethess sources of
these are adequate for our current operationsn@jor purchases are ethylene, sodium, lead, cetamber improvers
ethyl chloride, various solvents and dibromoethane.

These purchases account for a substantial portiblredCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readigilable from more than one source. We use long-t®ntracts
(generally with fixed prices and escalation tertod)elp ensure availability, continuity of supplydamanage the risk
price increases. For some raw materials the rigkio€é increases is managed with commodity swaps.

5
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The chemical industry, in general, is experiendame tightness in the supply of certain commodigyamals. We
continue to monitor the situation and adjust owcprement strategies as we deem appropriate.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmés and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive strengths particularly in the Fuel Sakies and Active Chemicals businesses. The Comgdaas not
however consider its business as a whole to bendiep¢ on any one trademark, patent or license.

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and psitgnanted and in the application stage, covesnegucts and
processes in several jurisdictions. The majoritthese patents were developed by the Company abjcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment néveal fees, have at least ten years’ life remaining

The trademark Innospec and the Innospec devicéass€s 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Classiicadf Goods and
Services for the Purposes of the Registration afkislas registered in all countries or jurisdict®im which it has a
significant market presence. The Company alsoraaemark registrations in all countries or jurisidies in which it
has a significant market presence for the followBigdis® (a range of conductivity improvers), Orthole@rfa range ¢
lubricant additives), Valvemast&(a range of anti valve seat recession additivesyal Diesef (a range of diesel fuel
additives), Satacen(a range of iron-based organo-metallic fuel boratalysts), Octaquest(a range of biodegradable
chelating agents) and Finsdl¥a range of benzoate esters for personal carea@smdetic products).

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgand product developments by filing patent apgilbnis or
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigohppsarticipate in patent opposition proceedingiacbthe world,
where necessary, to secure a technology baseffregingement.

Customers

Fuel SpecialtiesOur customers are multinational oil companies amad fetailers. Traditionally, a large portion oéth
total market was captive to oil companies that fo@dtl additives divisions providing supplies dirgdib their respective
refinery customers. Many refineries are increagihgbking to purchase their fuel additive requirernseon the open
market. This trend is creating new opportunitigsiidependent additive marketers such as ourselves.

Active ChemicalsCustomers range from large multinational compaaresmanufacturers of personal care and
household products, to specialty chemical manufac$woperating in niche industries.

6
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Octane AdditivesSales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline are er@athcipally to the retail refinery market which
comprises independent, state or major oil compavryed refineries located throughout the world. 8gliprices to
major customers are usually negotiated under leng-supply agreements with varying prices and terhpgayment.
Our environmental remediation business then seéhese customers to manage the clean up of theiagsbredundant
plants as refineries complete the change to unteaos.

In 2007 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $66.2 mili (11%) of net sales. In 2006 and 2005 no sing$&otner accounted
for more than 10% of net sales.

Competition

Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is fragmented and cheniaed by a small number of competitors in each
submarket. The competitors in each submarket difdr no one company holding a dominant positiore ¥énsider

our competitive strengths to be our proven techmieselopment capacity, independence from majocaihpanies and
strong long-term relationships with refinery custom

Active ChemicalsWe operate in a number of active chemical marketes. Accordingly, there are a plethora of
competitors who also operate in some, but nobathese markets.

Octane AdditivesOur Octane Additives business is the world’s onlydoaicer of TEL and accordingly is the only
supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoline. Tusiness therefore competes with marketers ofystsdand
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmatane performance in automotive gasoline.

Agreements with Ethyl Corporation

On October 1, 1998, Innospec entered into salesramkleting agreements (“TMASs”) with Ethyl Corporati(“Ethyl”)
to market and sell tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”) in alleas of the world except North America and theogeian Economic
Area for the period lasting until December 31, 208$hject to renewal thereafter. This relationshgs extended
effective January 1, 2000 when two of our Swissgliéries entered into similar TMAs with EthyISwiss subsidiarie
In April 2000, Ethyl made a payment to Innospe&88.6 million as a prepayment for services to leviged under the
Swiss TMAs. Effective July 1, 2001, another of &wiss subsidiaries entered into a TMA with Veri@&lemicals BV
(“Veritel”) and Ethyl agreed to participate in tHi$1A with the scope of all the TMAs being extendednclude the
European Economic Area.

No separate legal entity or joint venture was distladsd as a consequence of the TMAs. All markeging sales effo
made under these arrangements were made in theafdmmespec. Innospec produced all TEL marketetkuthe
TMAs and also provided marketing and other serviE#éisyl provided bulk distribution services, maikgtand other
services. In addition, Ethyl was required to hgdpr@ximately one third of the inventories sold unihese
arrangements or deposit an equivalent dollar amaithtinnospec. At March 31, 2007, Ethyl held noLTiBventories
in respect of the TMAs and accordingly had depdsk&2.0
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million with us. The net proceeds under the TMAseveaid to Innospec and Ethyl as compensationeiices and
based on an agreed-upon formuath Innospec receiving 68% of the total compemsator services provided and
Ethyl receiving 32%. Ethyl's 32% share of the netgeeds was advanced to Ethyl by us when paymentecaived
from the TMA customers.

Innospec had commenced proceedings in the Londart Gbinternational Arbitration (“LCIA”) againsttByl
regarding an alleged breach of duty by Ethyl unbderTMAs by actively marketing and selling an aitgive product.
In addition, the Company was in dispute with Ettedarding the price that it was entitled to chdogehe supply of
TEL to Ethyl in the U.S. under a separate agreerfiehs. Supply Agreement”). On June 15, 2007, hudlties
resolved all of the arbitration actions arising otithe disputes under the TMAs and the U.S. Supgiseement. The
TMAs were terminated effective April 1, 2007, amthdspec became the sole supplier of TEL outsideeot).S. (see
Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarigfatements’

Research, Development and Testing

Research, development and testing (“R&D”) provide Ibasis for the growth of our Fuel Specialties Aative
Chemicals businesses. Accordingly, the Company’®R&tivity has been, and will continue to be, famisn the
development of new products and formulations fes# Technical support is provided for all of ousihess segments
including Octane Additives.

Our principal research and development facilitieslacated in Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom. Exgigmes to
support research, product/application developmedtt@chnical support services to customers weres®idlion, $11..
million, and $11.2 million in 2007, 2006, and 20@&spectively.

We consider that our proven technical capabilityvpdes us with a significant competitive advantdgehe last three
years, the Fuel Specialties business has develmpedietergent, lubricity and combustion improverdurcts, in
addition to the introduction of several new costetive fuel additive packages. A patented proéesmanufacturing
Enviomet™, a chelating agent, enabled us to entera new market in the active chemicals area.

Health, Safety and Environmental Matters

We are subject to environmental laws in all of¢bantries in which we conduct business. The pradagmvironmental
laws to which the Company is subject to in the EohiKingdom are the Environmental Protection Act,3Be Water
Resources Act 1991, the Health and Safety at WatklA874 and regulations and amendments theretoadtament
believes that the Company is in material complianitk all applicable environmental laws and has enagpropriate
provision for the continued costs of compliancewahvironmental laws. Nevertheless, there can bessorance that
changes in existing environmental laws, or thealiscy of additional liabilities associated with awrrent or former
operations, will not have a material adverse eféecour business, results of operations or findmpaoaition.

8
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The principal sites giving rise to environmentahegliation liabilities are the former Octane Addisvmanufacturing
sites at Paimboeuf in France, Doberitz and BielieshreGermany, together with the Ellesmere Po#d Bitthe United
Kingdom, which is the last ongoing manufacturefBL.. Remediation work is substantially complet®atmboeuf,
Doberitz and Biebesheim. At Ellesmere Port theedsntinuing remediation program related to thosaufacturing
units that have been closed. We regularly revieaftiture costs of remediation and the current eders reflected in
Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarfsiatements

We record environmental liabilities relating to tieéirement of assets and environmental clean wgnvihey are
probable and costs can be estimated reasonablyirMalves anticipating the program of work and a@issociated futu
costs, and so involves the exercise of judgememidyagement.

New laws and regulations may be introduced in titeré that could result in additional compliancete@and prevent
inhibit the development, distribution and sale of products. The European Union (“EU”) has approaéditional
legislation known as the Registration, Evaluatiod Authorization of Chemical Substances Regulat{tREACH”)
which requires most of the Company’s products todggstered with EU Authorities. Under this legigla the
Company has to demonstrate the continuing safetg products. During this registration period @@mpany will
incur expense to test and register its products.Gbmpany estimates that the cost of complying REACH will be
approximately $10 million incurred over the nextears. While the Company expects that its produidtde approved
for registration after testing it is possible tbattain products may not be registered if thedatt proves unsatisfacto
In such an outcome some of the Company’s produatshre restricted or prohibited in the EU.

Human Resources

Our workforce at December 31, 2007 consisted oféefployees, of which 364 were in the United Kingdom
Approximately 41% of our employees in the Unitechgdom are represented by unions, including thesfran and
General Workers Union and UNITE.

We have in place an employee communication progoanelp our employees understand both the busieggss
surrounding Innospec and the developing Fuel Spiesand Active Chemicals businesses. Regulafibge are
conducted by the CEO and line managers where coypate and departmental issues are discussed. fdoral
communication takes place with the trade unionsegeized by us for negotiating and consultative pags.

Available I nformation

We file with the Securities and Exchange Commis$i@&EC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1%&lamended
(the “Exchange Act”) our annual report on Form 10gKarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current repont$-orm 8-K,
and any amendments to those reports, proxy stateraed other documents. The public may read ang aop
materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’bIRUReference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washmgt

9
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D.C. 20549, United States of America. The publigzraio obtain information on the operation of thublit Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In aaldjitthe SEC maintains an Internet website at wegvgovthat
contains reports, proxy and information statemantsother information that registrants, including Company, file
electronically with the SEC.

Our corporate website is www.innospecinc.cite make available, free of charge, on or throughvlebsite our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycpide after
electronically filing such material with, or furhigg it to, the SEC. In addition, Innospec’s CogierGovernance
Guidelines, Code of Ethics and Director Independestandards, and the written charters for the cat@es of
Innospec’s Board of Directors are available on website under “Investor Relations — Corporate Goaece” and in
print upon request by writing to: Corporate Seasetlnospec Inc., Innospec Manufacturing Park,Sés Road,
Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, United Kingdom, CH65 4EY.

None of the above available information forms @éthis filing on Form 1-K, unless specifically incorporated by
reference elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

ltem 1A Risk Factors

Our business is subject to many factors that codterially adversely affect our future performaacd cause our
actual results to differ materially from those esx@eced or implied by forward-looking statementsdman this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Investing in our securities involves risks and adecwly investors should carefully evaluate thasks including the
factors discussed below before deciding to invesir securities.

We may have to pay substantial fines and penaltiesif we are fined by the U.S. government in connection with its
investigations regarding the United Nations Oil for Food Program and other related matters.

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamronenced
an investigation to determine whether any violaiohlaw had occurred in connection with transanxgioonducted by
the Company, including its wholly owned indirecbsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”),2wiss
company, under the United Nations Oil for Food Paag (“OFFP”) between June 1, 1999 and Decembe2(13. As
part of its investigation, the SEC issued a subagequiring the production of certain documentsluding documents
relating to these transactions, by the CompanyAdcar. Upon receipt of the SEC’s notification amitial subpoena,
the Company undertook a review of its participaiimthe OFFP. On October 10, 2007 and Novembe®Q7 2he SEC
served two additional subpoenas on the CompanyseTadditional subpoenas required the productiaoofiments
relating notably to the OFFP but also relatingréms$actions conducted by the Company or its sudrgedi with state
owned or controlled entities between June 1, 19@Pthe date of such subpoenas, relating to itolik®#eign agents
and the possibility of extra-contractual paymeng&eto secure business with foreign governmentdie=n In a co-
ordinated investigation, the Company has also keatacted by the U.S. Department of Justice (“D@dgarding the
possibility of violations of relevant laws in the
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areas contained in the SEC subpoenas as well @oadtpreliminary inquiries regarding complianwéh anti-trust
laws relating to U.S. and international tetra etbgld markets. The subjects into which the SECEAd have inquired
include areas that involve certain former and curexecutives of the Company including the cur@BO. The
Company, and its officers and directors, are caapeg with the SEC and DOJ investigations. On Fatyd9, 2008,
the Board of Directors of the Company formed a cattem comprised of the chairmen of the Board, theiA
Committee and the Nominating and Governance Coraenigspectively, all of whom are independent dimsct
Counsel to the Company, providing assistance teadn@mittee has, on behalf of the committee, corethand will
continue to conduct an investigation into the ainstances giving rise to the SEC and DOJ investigatiCounsel will
report directly to the committee and will assistannection with interactions with the SEC and D@bile the
outcome of these investigations is uncertain, aberof companies involved in the OFFP investigaibave been
required to disgorge profits and pay civil fineslgenalties up to $30 million. As a result of infation discovered in
the course of the investigation, we expect thatwliebe required to disgorge profits and pay firzesl penalties that
could be of similar magnitude. Any settlement &f 82C and DOJ inquiries relating to matters beybrdOFFP could
require the Company to make significant additiahagjorgements, penalty and fine payments. Howeuisatime
management is not able to predict with certaingylével of such fines and penalties. Because ofiticertainties
associated with the ultimate outcome of these tiy&sons and the costs to the Company of respgnalind
participating in these on-going investigationsassurance can be given that the ultimate costsamctions that may
be imposed upon us will not have a material adveifeet on our results of operations, financialipos and cash flow
from operating activities. At December 31, 2007ha&e accrued $3.7 million in respect of probabtartilegal
expenses in respect of this matter and have prdwideadditional accruals for this matter.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or successfully integrate future acquisitionsinto our business, which
could hinder our strategy or result in unanticipated expenses and losses.

It is part of our stated strategy that we inten@uosue strategic acquisitions and other opporasiib complement and
expand our existing businesses. Our ability to ennt this component of our strategy will be lirditey our ability to
identify appropriate acquisitions or other oppoities and financial resources, including our avaddacash and
borrowing capacity and the financial markets. Thecess of these transactions will depend on olityata integrate
assets and personnel acquired in these transacipply our internal controls processes to thegeiesd businesses,
and cooperate with our strategic partners. Therese@curred in consummating acquisitions or otipgrortunities, the
time it takes to integrate an acquisition, or @ilufe to integrate businesses successfully, ceddlt in unanticipated
expenses and losses. The process of integratingradgperations into our existing operations mesutt in unforesee
operating difficulties and may require significdintancial resources that would otherwise be avéal&tr the ongoing
development or expansion of existing operationstiieumore, we may not realize the degree or tinoingenefits we
anticipate when we first enter a transaction. Ahthese risks could adversely impact our resultspefrations, financi
position and cash flows.
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We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes and state taxéib iS., as well as numerous foreign jurisdicti@ignificant
judgment is required in determining our worldwideyasion for income taxes. In the ordinary coureur business
there are many transactions and calculations wheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Weanmgently under
tax audit by various jurisdictions’ tax authoritiddthough we believe our tax estimates are redsenthe final
determination of tax audits and any related litmatould be materially different than that whistréflected in our
financial statements. This could have a materifaloton our net income, financial position or célelws from operatin
activities.

Competition and market conditions may adver sely affect our operating results.

Certain product lines and markets in which the Camyfs businesses operate are subject to significanpetiion. The
Company competes on the basis of a number of &uotoluding, but not limited to, product qualitydaproperties,
customer relationships and service, and regulaodytoxicological expertise. For some productscthrapetitors are
larger than us and may have greater access tacfalatechnological and other resources. As a télsase competitors
may be able to better withstand a change in camrditwithin the industries in which the Company apes, a change in
the prices of raw materials or a change in globahemic conditions. Competitors may be able tmuhiice new
products with enhanced features that may causelmelén the demand and sales of the Company’symtsd
Consolidation of customers or competitors in thek@igareas in which the Company operates may Galesss of
market share for the Company’s products or placensard pressure on prices. Any of these risks caditersely
impact our future revenues, gross margins and ftasts from operating activities.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuationsin the cost of our raw materials and energy could adversely affect our profit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amatggnin our manufacturing and blending processeswbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant price instability. These fluctuatiomsprice can be caused by political instability inppoducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global symd demand over which we have no or little colntnnospec has
entered hedging arrangements for certain raw nadgebut does not typically enter into hedging gements for all
raw materials, chemicals or energy costs. Showtsaaf raw materials, chemicals or energy increase should
Innospec’s businesses not be able to pass ondtbssacreases to our customers, then operatinginsaand cash
flows from operating activities would be adversiehpacted. Should raw material prices increase fggmitly, then the
Company’s need for working capital could increaseciv would adversely impact cash flows from op@&gtctivities.

12



Table of Contents

A disruption in the supply of raw materials or transportation services would have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.

The chemical industry and transportation industeyia a situation where the supply and demand tf transportation
services and the supply and demand of raw matenialgn balance. Any significant disruption in slypgould affect ou
ability to obtain raw materials or transportati@msces. This could adversely impact our resultsp#rations, financial
position and cash flows from operating activities.

We could be adversely affected by technological changesin our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technolobgagabilities, develop and market products andieguons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succhlysaficipate or respond to technological changes cost effectiv
and timely manner will likely impact our future ess success. Technological changes in some of @lir
customers’ products or processes may make our pit®dbsolete and accordingly adversely impact esults of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Our Octane Additives business will continue to decline.

Worldwide use of TEL has declined since 1973 follaythe enactment of the U.S. Clean Air Act of 1@r@ similar
legislation in other countries. The trend of coigstexiting the leaded gasoline market has resultadyeneral rate of
decline in volume terms in recent years of betwHe¥ and 25% per annum. Net sales and gross pfafiirdOctane
Additives business accounted for approximately H#b 24%, respectively, of our consolidated sal@lsgrass profit il
2007, and we expect both of these percentagestimelén fiscal year 2008. The predicted remairsages of the
Octane Additives business are now concentratedétasively small number of customers and therefoay decline
with unpredictable volatility and severity. Showlde or more of these customers choose for econemwr,onmental,
political or other reasons to cease using TEL ascéane enhancer earlier than has been anticipaieathe
Company’s future operating income and cash flowsfoperating activities would be adversely impaciétere could
also be an accelerated impairment of Octane Additbusiness goodwill as the forecast discountdu ftass from tha
business would be reduced. The Company anticipast®ventually all countries in the world will ptthe use of TEL
in automotive gasoline. The Company expects thatlicease all sales of TEL for use in automomasoline at some
time in the next several years.

We facerisks related to our foreign operations that may adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and accordingly operaseime countries which do not have stable economies o
governments. Specifically, we trade in countriegegiencing political and economic instability iretMiddle East and
Asia Pacific. Our international operations are sabjo international business risks including, ot limited to,
unsettled political conditions, expropriation, innpand export restrictions, exchange controls,amati and regional
labor strikes, taxes, government royalties andio#isins on repatriation of earnings
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or proceeds from liquidated assets of foreign sli@ises. The occurrence of any, or a combinatibthese events
could adversely impact our results of operatiomsyrfcial position and cash flows from operating\étogs.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, which may adversely affect our results of operations.

The Company generates an element of its revenuesmanrs some operating costs in currencies ottaer the U.S.
dollar. In addition, the financial position andukts of operations of some of our foreign subsidmare reported in the
relevant local currency and then translated to ddBars at the applicable currency exchange @atentlusion in our
consolidated financial statements. Changes in exgdhaates between these foreign currencies and.fedollar will
affect the recorded levels of our assets and iiggs) to the extent such figures reflect the is@ua of foreign assets and
liabilities that are translated into U.S. dollaps presentation in our financial statements, as agbur results of
operations.

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehexge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro and
British pound sterling. The Company cannot acclygieedict the nature or extent of future exchargge variability.
While the Company takes steps to manage currermysexe by entering into hedging transactions,damnot
eliminate all exposure to future exchange ratealdlity. Exchange rates between these currenciésrenU.S. dollar
have fluctuated significantly in recent years araj/raontinue to do so in the future, which couldenatly impact our
results of operations and financial position.

Failureto protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our future performance and cash flows.

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmds and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive strengths. We therefore depend on bilityato develop and protect our intellectual peoty rights to
distinguish our products from those of our competit Failure to do so may result in the loss ofighle technologies,
or our having to pay other companies for infringthgir intellectual property rights. Measures takgrus to protect ot
intellectual property may be challenged, invalidat@rcumvented or rendered unenforceable. We rsayface patent
infringement claims from our competitors which nragult in substantial litigation costs, claims di@mages or a
tarnishing of our reputation even if we are suctgss defending these claims, which may causecmstomers to
switch to our competitors. The occurrence of amyg oombination, of these events could adversepatchour results
operations, financial position and cash flows froperating activities.

We are subject to extensive government regulation.

We are subject to regulation by local, state, fadand foreign governmental authorities. In someucnstances these
authorities must approve our products, manufaajusiocesses and facilities before we may sell repaducts. Man'
of the Company’s products are required to be regestwith the U.S. Environmental Protection Age(f{&PA”) and
with comparable
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governmental agencies elsewhere. We are also subjengoing reviews of our products, manufactupngcesses and
facilities by governmental authorities including ttequirement to produce product data.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certagwrproducts we must, amongst other things, denmatestio the
relevant authority that the product is safe andaive for its intended uses, and that we are dapdbmanufacturing
the product in accordance with current regulatidiss approval process can be costly, time consgnand subject to
unanticipated and significant delays. Accordingigre can be no assurance that approvals will &etga on a timely
basis, or at all. Any delay in obtaining, or aniyuiee to obtain or maintain, these approvals wadgersely affect our
ability to introduce new products and to generat®me from those products.

New laws and regulations may be introduced in titeré that could result in additional compliancete@and prevent
inhibit the development, distribution and sale of products. The European Union (“EU”) has approaéditional
legislation known as the Registration, Evaluatiod Authorization of Chemical Substances Regulat{tREACH”)
which requires most of the Company’s products todggstered with EU Authorities. Under this legigla the
Company has to demonstrate the continuing safetg products. During this registration period @@mpany will
incur expense to test and register its products. Gbmpany estimates that the cost of complying REACH will be
approximately $10 million incurred over the nextears. While the Company expects that its produidtde approved
for registration after testing it is possible tbattain products may not be registered if thedatt proves unsatisfacto
In such an outcome some of the Company’s produatsbe restricted or prohibited in the EU. This colohve a
material impact on our results of operations, fmabhposition or cash flows.

The Company has made a voluntary disclosure to Offg:e of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) regardidealings
with Cuba by certain of the Company’s current amaner subsidiaries. The Company is cooperating thighSEC and
the DOJ regarding its participation in the OFFPe TQompany has made provision for legal expenseéeiapdtential
penalties in respect of these matters to the exténis feasible. However should the Company’srestes prove to be
inadequate then this could have a material impaghihe Company’s operating income and cash flowra bperating
activities.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose substantial costs on us.

We are occasionally involved in legal proceedirigs tesult from, and are incidental to, the conadictur business,
including product liability claims. We have insucancoverage to mitigate any potential damagesyrsaoh
proceedings, however if our insurance did not ceueh claims, then this could have a material adveffect on our
results of operations, financial position and cidehs.

Environmental matters could have a substantial adverse impact on our results of operations.

The Company is subject to extensive federal, skata) and foreign environmental, health and salfatys and
regulations concerning emissions to the air, diggdsto land and water
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and the generation, handling, treatment and disppd$emzardous waste and other materials. The Caynjzaalso
required to obtain various environmental permitd Brenses many of which require periodic notificatand renewal.

The Company operates on a number of manufactuites) §he Company’s historic operations, and tiséohic
operations of companies who have previously opératesites that the Company has acquired, entatisk of
environmental contamination of the properties thatvns or has owned. This may result in finesranmal sanctions
against the Company or may entail the Company itenah costs to remediate historic contamination.

The Company further anticipates that certain prédodacilities may cease production in the medionong-term. On
closure of some of these production operationkerfuture, the Company expects to be subject to@mmental laws
that will require production facilities to be safelecommissioned and a degree of environmentaldiatien to be
undertaken. The degree of environmental remediatibrdepend upon the plans for the future usehefaperating site
that are affected and the environmental legislatidiorce at the time. The Company has currentlgena
decommissioning and remediation provision basetherCompany’s current obligations, the current glam those
sites and current environmental legislation. SholddCompany’s future plans for the sites changshould
environmental legislation change then these pronsimay prove inadequate and this will have anraévenpact on
future operating income and cash flows from opeggaéictivities.

The terms of our credit agreements may restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to otherwise expand
our business.

The Company’s existing credit facilities contaistrective clauses which may constrain our actigited limit our
operational and financial flexibility. These claadienit our ability, among other matters, to in@eandebtedness, use
assets as security in other transactions, disposgsets, acquire assets or investments, and paledds or repurchase
common stock.

The current credit facilities require the Compamyrteet certain financial ratios including net diebEBITDA (as
defined in the credit facility) and net interesperse to EBITA (as defined in the credit facilityhe ability to meet
these financial covenants depends upon the fupgeating performance of the businesses. If the Gomfails to mee
target covenants then it would be in technical géfan the borrowing facility and the maturity et outstanding debt
could be accelerated unless it was able to obtaiwess from the lenders.

The Company expects to need to refinance someeadiisting debt at the end of the remaining oneaahdlf year terr
of the current borrowing facility. Should the Compganot be able to secure refinancing on satisfgdemms at that
point this may adversely impact continuing operatio
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Our businessis subject to therisk of production or transportation interruptions, the occurrence of any of which
would adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical matnufag, blending, storage, handling and transpiortancluding
fires, explosions, mechanical failure, transpootainterruptions, remediation, chemical spills #melrelease or
discharge of toxic or hazardous substances. Theesgdis could result in loss of life, property damagnvironmental
contamination and temporary or permanent producessation. Any, or a combination, of these factordd adverse
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows from operating activities.

We may be required to make additional contributionsto the defined benefit pension scheme that we operate in the
United Kingdom.

The Company operates a contributory defined bepkit in the United Kingdom. At December 31, 200& t
underlying plan asset value and projected benbfigation were $889.1 million and $854.3 millioespectively,
resulting in a surplus of $34.8 million. The plarclosed to new entrants, without trustee disanetot has a large
number of deferred and current pensioners. Shatlold investment returns prove insufficient to nfeaire
obligations, or should future obligations incredse to actuarial factors or changes in pensiorsl&gon, then the
Company may be required to make additional castribotions. This could have a material impact otufa operating
income and cash flows from operating activities.

Domestic or international natural disasters or terrorist attacks may disrupt our operations, decrease the demand for
our products or otherwise have an adverse impact on our business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsasiclirselves, may be at greater risk of futuretist attacks than
other possible targets in the U.S., United Kingdomd throughout the world. The occurrence of su@nevcannot be
predicted though they can be expected to contimaglversely impact the economy in general and peciBc markets.
The resulting damage from such an event could declass of life, property damage or site closunay,/or a
combination, of these factors could adversely inhpac results of operations, financial position aagh flows from
operating activities.

Iltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshswn in the following table. Each of these praperis owned by
the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location Business and Business Segment Operations

Newark, Delaware, U.<® Innospec Inc— Corporate Corporate Headquarte
Ellesmere Port Innospec Inc. and Innospec Limit— Fuel Specialties, Activ.  European Headquarte
United Kingdom Chemicals and Octane Additives Business Teams

Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development
Fuel Technology Centt

Widnes, United Kingdom Innospec Widnes Limited (previously known as Arofiize Manufacturing/Administration
Chemicals Limited— Active Chemicals

Herne, German Innospec Deutschland Gmt- Fuel Specialtie: Manufacturing/Administratiol

Leuna, Germany Innospec Leuna GmbH — Fuel Specialties and Active Manufacturing/Administration
Chemicals

Vernon, Franci Innospec France S- Fuel Specialtie Manufacturing/Administratiol

Zug, Switzerland®) Alcor Chemie Vertriebs Gmbl- Octane Additive: Sales/Administratiol

Littleton, Coloradd? Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC — Fuel Specialties Sales/Administration

High Point, North Carolin: Innospec Active Chemicals LL- Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol

Spencer, North Carolir Innospec Active Chemicals LL- Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol

(@M Leased property

The corporate headquarters of Innospec Inc. idddcat 220 Continental Drive, Newark, DE 19713. Pphacipal
executive offices of Innospec Inc. are locatechabkpec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road, EllesnRort, Cheshire
United Kingdom, CH65 4EY.

Production Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreemeatsu#ficient to meet expected future sales lev@fgerating rates of
the plants are generally flexible and varied witbduct mix and normal sales swings. Specificallg,velieve our
Octane Additives manufacturing site at Ellesmerg,Rinited Kingdom can be managed in a flexible aost effective
manner in order to meet anticipated future dem#elbelieve that all of our facilities are well m&imed and in good
operating condition.
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Item 3 Legal Proceedings
Oil for Food

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamhranenced
an investigation to determine whether any violatiohlaw had occurred in connection with transaxtioonducted by
the Company, including its wholly owned indirecbsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”),2wiss
company, under the United Nations Oil for Food Paog (“OFFP”) between June 1, 1999 and Decembe2@13. As
part of its investigation, the SEC issued a subaagequiring the production of certain documentsluding documents
relating to these transactions, by the CompanyAdcar. Upon receipt of the SEC’s notification amitial subpoena,
the Company undertook a review of its participatimthe OFFP. On October 10, 2007 and Novembe0Q7 2he SEC
served two additional subpoenas on the CompanyseTadditional subpoenas required the productiaoofiments
relating notably to the OFFP but also relatingréms$actions conducted by the Company or its sudrgdi with state
owned or controlled entities between June 1, 19@Pthe date of such subpoenas, relating to itolLk®eign agents
and the possibility of extra-contractual paymené&mto secure business with foreign governmentaie=n In a co-
ordinated investigation, the Company has also keatacted by the U.S. Department of Justice (“D@dgarding the
possibility of violations of relevant laws in theeas contained in the SEC subpoenas as well agaaddipreliminary
inquiries regarding compliance with anti-trust lawkating to U.S. and international tetra ethydl@aarkets. The
subjects into which the SEC and DOJ have inquimetiide areas that involve certain former and caregacutives of
the Company including the current CEO. The Company,its officers and directors, are cooperatintpwie SEC and
DOJ investigations. On February 19, 2008, the Bo&i@irectors of the Company formed a committee posed of th:
chairmen of the Board, the Audit Committee andNloeeninating and Governance Committee respectivdllypf asthom
are independent directors. Counsel to the Compganyjding assistance to the committee has, on behd#ie
committee, conducted and will continue to conductrestigation into the circumstances giving ts¢he SEC and
DOJ investigations. Counsel will report directlyth® committee and will assist in connection witteractions with the
SEC and DOJ. While the outcome of these investigatis uncertain, a number of companies involveatienOFFP
investigations have been required to disgorge tsrafid pay civil fines and penalties up to $30iomill As a result of
information discovered in the course of the ingegion, we expect that we will be required to diggoprofits and pay
fines and penalties that could be of similar magtet Any settlement of the SEC and DOJ inquiriéstireg to matters
beyond the OFFP could require the Company to migikefisant additional disgorgements, penalty amgfpayments.
However at this time management is not able toipr@dth certainty the level of such fines and pléea. Because of
the uncertainties associated with the ultimate @ute of these investigations and the costs to thegaay of
responding and participating in these on-going stigations, no assurance can be given that thmatki costs and
sanctions that may be imposed upon us will not lzaneterial adverse effect on our results of opmrat financial
position and cash flows from operating activiti@&December 31, 2007 we have accrued $3.7 millorespect of
probable future legal expenses in respect of tlaigenand have provided no additional accrualsHigrmatter.
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Bycosin Disposal

Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of Gban Assets Control Regulations to the OfficeasEign Assets
Control . Given the international scope of its operatidhg,Company is subject to laws of many differensglictions,
including laws relating to the imposition of restions on trade and investment with various erstjgeersons and
countries, some of which laws are conflicting. 002 the Company reviewed, as it does periodicaipects of its
operations in respect of such restrictions, andrdehed to dispose of certain non-core, non-U.Bsisliaries of
Bycosin AB. Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries hadrbeegaged in transactions and activities invol\@udpan persons
and entities before the acquisition of the Bycdsimup by the Company in June 2001, and such saogdiwere
continuing to engage in such transactions andiiet\at the time of the disposal of the non-canelfSpecialties
business and related assets in November 2004. @anm\zer 15, 2004, Bycosin AB, a wholly-owned sulssigiof the
Company organized under the laws of Sweden (nowkras Innospec Sweden AB, the “Seller”), enteréa &
Business and Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agmemweith Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB (the “Purch8sdidakar
Bystrom and others as the Purchaser’s guarantwdsQatel Petroleum Specialties Limited (now knowriranospec
Fuel Specialties Limited) as the Seller’s guargrdad completed the all-cash transaction contergldiereby
(together with related transactions, the “Transa)i The Agreement provided for, among other tkin@ the disposal
of certain non-core Fuel Specialties business aladed manufacturing and other assets of the Saler (ii) the supply
and distribution of certain power products to derggeographic regions. The net consideration pgithb Purchaser
was approximately US$2.9 million.

Following completion of the Transaction, the Comparade a voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Offic&ofeign Assel
Control (“OFAC”) regarding transactions and actestengaged in by certain non-U.S. subsidiarigkefCompany.
Disclosures, amongst other items, included thabgwegate monetary value of the transactions wvgIlCuban
persons and entities conducted by the Company’d.h8nsubsidiaries since January 1999 is approxiin$26.6
million.

At this time, however, management believes thabitld be speculative and potentially misleadingthe Company to
predict the specific nature or amount of penalties OFAC might eventually assess against it. Whdealties could be
assessed on different bases, if OFAC assessedipsragainst the Company on a “performance of ectgrbasis”, the
applicable regulations provide for penalties, ia tiase of civil violations of the Cuban Assets @uriRegulations (31
CFR. Part 515) (“CACR?"), of the lesser of $65,0@0 piolation or the value of the contract. Sinceutay 1999, non-
U.S. subsidiaries of the Company have entereddiBtoontracts with Cuban entities, each of whichdde considered
a separate violation of the CACR by OFAC. OFAC rtel§e the position that the CACR should be integutetr
applied in a different manner, potentially evemp#omit the assessment of penalties equal to otegréwan the value of
the business conducted with Cuban persons oresatiti
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The Company has considered the range of possilidemes and potential penalties payable. In accaslaith the
Company’s accounting policies, provision has beadefor management’s current best estimate ofdtenpal
liability, including anticipated legal costs. Hoveeyshould the underlying assumptions prove inctrtbe actual
outcome could differ materially from managementisrent expectations. Management is not able tonas# the
amount of any additional loss, if any.

If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or ferjrwere found not to have complied with the CA@t, Company
believes that it could be subject to fines or ottieit or criminal penalties which could be matéria

Patent Actions

The Company is actively opposing certain third pagtents in various regions of the world. Theawiare part of the
Company’s ongoing management of its intellectuapprty portfolio. The Company does not believe Hrat of these
actions will have a material effect on the finahpiasition or results of operations of the Company.

Other Legal Matters

We are involved from time to time in claims anddegroceedings that result from, and are incideiotathe conduct of
our business including product liability claims.efFa are no other material pending legal proceedmasich the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party,favloich any of their property is subject, otherrtr@dinary, routine
litigation incidental to their respective businesse

Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:
No matter was submitted to a vote of security haldkiring the quarter ended December 31, 2

21



Table of Contents

PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, anddsuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bé®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholda&frsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyeanon that date. The shares were distributed gn20yl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional optarevery option they held and the original exgegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split. Tdiwing information has been retrospectivelywsdgd for this stock
split.

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASD@&¢Imbol — IOSP). As of February 15, 2008 there were
approximately 1,563 registered holders of the comstock. The following table shows the closing hegta low prices
of our common stock for each of the last eight tprar

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2007

High $ 30.5¢ $ 31.0¢ $ 31.8: $ 23.9]

Low $ 22.1¢ $ 26.3( $ 18.7- $ 16.2¢
2006

High $ 13.0¢ $ 13.61 $ 15.07 $ 24.2(

Low $ 8.3¢ $ 11.4¢ $ 11.21 $ 14.7(
Dividends

In line with its policy of semannual consideration of a dividend the Companyated|the following cash dividends
the two years ended December 31, 2007.

Date declared Stockholders of record Date paid Amount per share
February 16, 200 February 23, 200 April 1, 2006 4 cents
August 18, 200t September 1, 20C October 1, 20C 4 cents
February 26, 200 March 5, 2007 April 2, 2007 4.5 centt
August 14, 200 September 4, 20C October 9, 20C 4.5 cent

In addition, on February 22, 2008 the Company anoed that its Board of Directors had declared a-semual
dividend of 5 cents per share payable on April3Q&to stockholders of record as of March 14, 2008.

The refinancing facility entered into on Decemb@y 2005 allows a maximum dividend of $2.5 milliogr gnnum in
2005, plus 10% annual growth thereafter, provided ho default
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has occurred or would result from such payment. Cbmpany may repurchase its own common stock peovidat
this will not affect compliance with the financ@bvenants in the facility.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(a) Total (c) Total Number of
Number Shares Purchased as Pa
of (b) Average (d) Approximate Dollar
Shares of the Publicly Value of Shares that Ma»
Purchasec Price Paid Announced Plans or Yet Be Purchased Unde
Period per Share Programs the Plans or Programs
Carried forwarc — — — $ 4.1 million
October 1- October 31 — — — $4.1 million
November 1- November 3( — — — $4.1 million
December - December 3: 142,97¢ $ 17.3¢ 142,97¢ $ 1.6 million
Total 142,97¢ $ 17.3¢ 142,97¢ $ 1.6 million

Repurchases of common stock are held as treasargsshnless reissued under equity compensatios.plan

On December 4, 2006 the Company announced th&dael of Directors had authorized the repurchasedb $20.0
million of common stock, dependent on market cood, and a further stock re-purchase plan undér Rib5-1 to
repurchase an additional $2.5 million of commortistd his plan commenced on December 5, 2006 angleded on
February 9, 2007.

On February 26, 2007 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had authorized a further sta@ekburchase
plan under Rule 10b5-1 to repurchase up to aniaddit$5.0 million of common stock. This plan commoed on
February 28, 2007 and completed on May 4, 2007.

On May 14, 2007 the Company announced that thedBafaDirectors had authorized a further stock recpase plan
under Rule 10b5-1 to repurchase up to an additi®®&l million of common stock. This plan commenocadMay 14,
2007 and completed on June 19, 2007.

On August 10, 2007 the Company re-purchased 4Xkbafes at a cost of $0.9 million.

On August 14 2007 the Company announced that tlaedBaf Directors had authorized a further stochuechase plan
under Rule 10b3-to repurchase up to an additional $6.5 milliora@imon stock. This plan commenced on Augus
2007 and completed on August 22, 2007.

On December 7, 2007 the Company re-purchased 1918l8tes at a cost of $2.5 million.
During January 2008 the Company re-purchased 104B88res at a cost of $1.6 million.
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The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiantaioed in
Item 12 under the heading “Shares Authorized feudsice Under Equity Compensation Plaashcorporated herein
reference.

The Company has not, within the last three yeasglenany sales of unregistered securities.
Stock Price Performance Graph

The “Stock Price Performance Graph” in the Proxat&nent for the Annual Meeting of Stockholdersedikld on
May 6, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference gilaph compares the cumulative total return tokstolders on the
common stock of the Company, S&P 500 Index and NAQEComposite Index since December 31, 2002, assuain
$100 investment and the re-investment of any dividehereafter.
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ltem 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(dollar amounts in millions 2005 ® 2004 ® 2003 M
except financial ratios and per share data) 2007 2006

Summary of performance

Net sale: $ 602. $ 532.1  $ 564.¢ $ 496.¢ $ 471.¢
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (12.3) (36.7) (134.9 (40.7) —
Operating income/(los: 47.¢ 31.¢ (97.7) 41.7 97.¢
Income/(loss) before income taxes and minorityrggt 47.¢ 31.¢ (117.9 34.C 81.€
Minority interest (0.7 (0.2 (0.2) (2.0) 4.3
Income taxe: (18.2) (20.9) (4.2 (20.7) (23.2)
Income/(loss) from continuing operatio 29.k 11.4 (122.9) 11.¢€ 54.1
Net income/(loss 29.t 11.4 (223.%) 6.2 51.¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 47.¢ 36.4 43.¢ 62.4 85.2
Financial position at year end
Total asset 551.1 569.( 675.% 790.€ 741.¢
Long-term debt (including current portio 81.C 148.1 144.¢ 124.: 104.¢
Stockholder equity $ 271 $225( $314¢ $445¢ $430.:
Financial ratios
Net income/(loss) as a percent of si 4.9 2.1 (21.9) 1.2 11.C
Effective income tax rate as a percént 38.2 64.2 (3.5) 62.¢ 30.C
Current ratid® 1.6 2.1 1.7 1.2 1.6

Share data®
Earnings/(loss) per sha

— Basic 1.2 0.47 (5.00 0.2t 2.17
— Fully diluted 1.1¢ 0.4t (5.00 0.24 2.0¢
Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operat

— Basic 1.2 0.47 (4.99 0.4¢ 2.2
— Fully diluted 1.1¢ 0.4t (4.99 0.4¢ 2.1t
Dividend paid per shai 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.07 0.0¢ 0.02¢
Shares outstanding (basic, thousal

— At year enc 23,771 23,80¢ 24,65( 24,67* 24,11¢
— Average during yee 23,92( 24,141 24,731 24,69( 23,85(
Closing stock prict

- High 31.82 24.2( 10.2¢ 16.0( 10.2¢
- Low 16.2¢ 8.3¢ 7.3C 9.31 6.2¢
— At year enc 17.1¢ 23.2¢ 8.14 10.41 9.8t

(1) 2005, 2004 and 2003 comparatives have been restadeder to reflect discontinued operatio

(2) The effective tax rate is calculated as a percentdgncome before income tax

(3) Current ratio is defined as current assets dividedurrent liabilities

(4) OnJune 18, 2007 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had approved a 2-for-1 stodk spbe effected in the form of a
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asutf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werédisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders ik one additional option for every
option they held and the original exercise pricesliese options were halved to reflect the stptik She table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY (UNAUDITED)

First Second Third Fourth
(dollar amounts in millions Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
except per share data)
2007
Net sales $145.: $141.¢ $143.C $172.;
Gross profit 49.7 47.¢ 45.€ 54.2
Operating incom: 13.2 10.¢ 10.€ 13.c
Net income 6.C 6.6 5.€ 11.1
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi $ 9.C $ 6. $201 $ 25¢
Per common shar
Earnings— basic® $ 0.2t $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2t $ 0.4¢
— fully diluted ® $ 0.24 $ 0.27 $ 0.2t $ 0.4¢
2006
Net sales $124.: $119.¢ $143.7  $144.
Gross profit 46.5 42.1 51.¢ 46.5
Operating incom: 6.€ 3.€ 19.¢ 1.
Net income/(loss 0.€ 1.C 10.t (0.7
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activi $ 7.7) $ 84 $ 19€ $ 16.1
Per common shar
Earnings/(loss— basic® $ 0.0z $ 0.04 $ 044 $(0.0%
— fully diluted ®®@ $ 0.0z $ 0.04 $ 04z $(0.03)
NOTES

(1) On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thelBbé®irectors had approved -for-1 stock split to be effected in the form c
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asubf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werédisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders ik one additional option for every
option they held and the original exercise pricasiiese options were halved to reflect the stptik §he table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg

(2) Inview of the fact that a net loss of $0.7lioil was made in the fourth quarter, 2006, thedasd fully diluted loss per common share
are the same for that quart
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated Financial Statements and the ribézsto.
GENERAL

We were spun off almost ten years ago from our gre@ent company, Chemtura Corporation, previoustpwkn as
Great Lakes Chemical Corporation. Our primary bessnwas the manufacture and sale of petroleunatigilives, in
particular, the lead octane additive for gasolte&a ethyl lead (“TEL”). Worldwide use of TEL hdsclined
dramatically resulting in a general rate of declmgolume terms in the last few years of betwe@¥land 25% a year.
As a result, we have shifted our business focus f@xtane Additives to the development, manufacime marketing
of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals.

We divide our business into three distinct segmemtboth management and reporting purposes: FuetiSlties,
Active Chemicals (previously Performance Chemiealgxplained below) and Octane Additives. The Bpelcialties
and Active Chemicals businesses both operate iketsaawhere we actively seek growth opportunitidee Dctane
Additives business, although still profitable, lscacterized by substantial declining demand.

On October 1, 2007 the Company announced a fustheamlining of its fast-growing Performance Chatsdivision
into a unified, sales-led global business focusedapidly meeting customers’ needs anywhere iretigeographical
regions and five core industry sectors. This letheosegment being re-branded under the bannen&&hemicals.”
The five core industry sectors are Personal Capeisehold, Industrial & Institutional; Fragrance redients; Plastics
Polymers and Pulp & Paper markets.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the comloiperhting income of the Fuel Specialties and Aciemicals
segments of our business rose 35%, as comparedhsitrear ended December 31, 2006. By comparisoihé year
ended December 31, 2007, operating income for titar@ Additives segment was $19.9 million, whigbresents a
decline of 42% compared with the year ended DeceBihe2006. The Octane Additives segment of oumass will
continue to decline as the last remaining counthascontinue to allow TEL for use in automotivasgline shift over
to unleaded. We expect that we will cease all sal@<€L for use in automotive gasoline at some timehe next
several years, and that we will continue to implaér Octane Additives business goodwill until oloptio that point.
However, we have succeeded in implementing outegfi@plan of creating sufficient growth in the F8pecialties an
Active Chemicals segments of our business to ntae offset the decline in the Octane Additives hesss.

The Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthlends and markets a range of specialty chemroducts used
additives to a wide range of fuels. The businessvgnitially through a program of acquisitions andre recently,
organically, through the development of new produand increases in sales and profitability.
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The Active Chemicals business provides effectichnelogy-based solutions for our customers’ praeess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indusrialstitutional; Fragrance Ingredients; Plastic®&ymers and
Pulp & Paper markets. This business has also gthmgh acquisitions, which we intend to continai¢hie future,
while we also seek to develop new products andmaatorganic growth.

The Octane Additives business is the warldhly producer of TEL for use in automotive gaseliWe are continuing
manage the decrease in the sales of TEL for ugetomotive gasoline to maximize the cash flow tgtothe decline.
Continuous cost improvement measures have beemwilrmbntinue to be, taken to respond to declinmagrket
demand.

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsummanufacturing and blending processes and leethes’ sources of
these are adequate for our current operations.rRaterials account for a substantial portion ofvanable
manufacturing costs. These materials are, witlexoeption of ethylene in Germany, readily availdlbden more than
one source. We use long-term contracts (generatlyfixed prices and escalation terms) to help emswailability,
continuity of supply and manage the risk of pricereases for some raw materials with commodity swidpvertheles
raw materials are subject to price fluctuations wedmnay be exposed to risk as prices of these ratenmals increase as
a result of factors that are not within our control

We are subject to extensive regulation by locakestfederal and foreign governmental authorites bvith respect to
the methods by which we manufacture and marketymtscand how we conduct our business. In that deges are
exposed to risks that we may incur liabilities @odts in order to conform to required regulationgsidhe event that w
fail to comply with any laws or regulations. We aterently the subject of two investigations by LgBvernment
authorities relating to certain aspects of ourrimaéional operations.

On February 7, 2006, the SEC notified us thatdt @@nmenced an investigation to determine whethgwvalations of
law had occurred in connection with our transacionder the United Nations Oil for Food Progranwieein June 1,
1999 and December 31, 2003. In 2005 we made valudisclosure of possible violations of the Cubasséts Control
Regulations to the U.S. Office of Foreign Assetsit@a regarding transactions and activities engageduba by
certain of our noiJ.S. subsidiaries. Management believes that atithisit is still not able to predict with any cairity
how the U.S. government will calculate the numteguassible violations of these laws and regulatithrag may have
occurred or the nature or amount of penalties tchwve could be subject.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our objective is to clearly present our financrdbrmation in a manner that enhances the undeiisiguod our sources
of earnings and cash flows together with our finalngosition. We aim to achieve this by disclosinfprmation
required by the SEC together with further inforraatthat provides insight into our businesses.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@aidition and Results of Operations discusses Irewsp
consolidated financial statements which have beepagsed in accordance with accounting principlesegaly accepte
in the United States of America. The preparatiothete financial statements requires managemenake estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdssats and liabilities and the disclosure of ogeint assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeantsl the reported amounts of revenues and expduoseg the reporting
period. On an on-going basis management evalustestimates and judgments. Management basesinsmts and
judgments on historical experience and on varighsrdactors that are believed to be reasonablenthe
circumstances, the results of which form the bisisnaking judgments about the carrying valuesssess and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from ateeurces. Actual results may differ from thesenesties under different
assumptions or conditions. Note 2 of the Notefi¢goGonsolidated Financial Statements includes areurgnof the
significant accounting policies and methods usetiépreparation of the Financial Statements.

Our consolidated financial statements and suppléngdata disclose our accounting principles aedntiethods and
estimates used in the preparation of those corselidfinancial statements. We believe those stattnaad disclosure
represent fairly the operating results and findrmmasition of the Company. The purpose of this iporbf our report is
to further emphasize some of the more critical amaere a significant change in facts and circunt&s in our
operating and financial environment could causkamge in results of operations or financial positibhe policies and
estimates that the Company considers the mostalriti terms of subjectivity and judgment of assesst are provided
below.

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2007 amdunt823.8 million and relate principally to our itéd Kingdom
site. The Company records environmental liabilitidgen they are probable and costs can be estimegsdnably. The
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future costs, and has tplganth
environmental legislation in the relevant countrilse Company views the costs of vacating our rited Kingdom
site as a contingent liability because there ipmsent intention to exit the site. The Companyfueber determined
that, due to the uncertain product life of TEL,tpadarly in the market for aviation gas, therestgisuch uncertainty as
to the timing of such cash flows that it is not gibte to estimate these flows sufficiently reliabdyrecognize a
provision.

Goodwill

The Company adopted FAS 142¢odwill and Other Intangible Assetffective January 1, 2002. This requires that
goodwill deemed to have an indefinite life shoutdlonger be amortized, but subject to an annuadimgent review,
or between years if events occur or circumstankaage which suggest that an impairment may havercext.

29



Table of Contents

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatsdgall as of
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairhcharge the fair value of the reporting unitderying the
segments is estimated using an after tax cashrflethodology based on management’s best estimatiestdime.

During 2002 and 2003, the goodwill impairment festthe Octane Additives business was performedialhnat
December 31. Both these reviews showed that thedaie of the reporting unit based on after tashcbows at the
Companys weighted average cost of capital exceeded thgimgrvalue of Octane Additives assets and, acogiyj nc
indicator of impairment existed and step 2 of tA&HA42 impairment test was not performed.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octaneditd/es market globally, as the Company makes s#l€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining salesa@mtesponding cash flows that can be derived fimenQctane
Additives business are reduced, and accordinglydinealue of the Octane Additives reporting usiteduced. Based
on the Company'’s detailed forecast model, assumptbd December 31, 2003 indicated that the reduatiforecast
future cash flows during 2004 would reduce theVaiue of the reporting unit below the carryingueabf Octane
Additives assets and, accordingly, there was likelge a significant goodwill impairment chargeidgrthe year ended
December 31, 2004. As a result the Company detexdhrtimat quarterly impairment reviews be perfornredf

January 1, 2004 and any impairment charge aristngtognized in the relevant quarter.

The value of the remaining cash flows from the @etAdditives business is calculated at any reviate thy reference
to the best available estimates for future revengiess margins, selling and administrative costwell as the fixed
and working capital requirements of the businesg fEsulting cash flows are then discounted antbtiaédiscounted
cash flows of the Octane Additives business are #llecated to the fair value of the Octane Ad@isibusiness unit at
that date. The Company uses this information tovdem implied goodwill value which is then compte the
carrying value to determine what impairment is reekd

Using this methodology and the assumptions undeglthe detailed forecast model the Company belithegst is
possible to predict the pattern of likely futureparment charges of Octane Additives business gdlodwis method
reflects the relatively unique nature of the OctAdéitives business.

As a result of the Octane Additives impairment egs performed during 2007, 2006 and 2005 impairrokatges of
$12.1 million, $36.7 million and $134.4 million,s@ectively, were recognized. These charges arecasimin nature
and have no impact on taxation. There is $12.74anilbf goodwill remaining which relates to the Q@aAdditives
business. Given the quantum and predictabilitthefremaining future cash flows from the Octane Adels business
the Company expects goodwill impairment chargdsetoecognized in the income statement on an appadigi straight-
line basis over the three years ending Decembe2@®I).
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At December 31, 2007 we had $139.1 million of goiidelating to our Fuel Specialties and Active @tieals
businesses. At this date we performed annual inmaait reviews and concluded that there has beempaiiment of
goodwill in respect of those reporting segments.

Intangible Assets, Net of Amortization

At December 31, 2007 we had $41.9 million of inthtes that are discussed in Note 10 of the Notékdo
Consolidated Financial Statements. These intang#sets relate to all of our business segmentsaranioleing
amortized straight-line over periods of up to 18rge We continually assess the markets and prodeieted to these
intangibles, as well as their specific carryingwea, and have concluded that these carrying valgsmortization
periods remain appropriate. We also evaluate timapgibles for any potential impairment when egesttcur or
circumstances change which suggest that an impairmay have occurred. If events occur or circunt#archange it
may possibly cause a reduction in periods over lwthiese intangibles are amortized or result inragash impairment
of a portion of the intangibles’ carrying valueré@duction in amortization periods would have n@effion cash flows.

Pensions

The Company’s principal pension arrangement isrdritiutory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plam’the United
Kingdom though it does also have other much smp#asion arrangements in the United Kingdom andseas. The
Company accounts for the Plan in accordance wit§ BAEmployers’ Accounting for PensiongAS 88,Employers’
Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of izefiBenefit Pension Plaand FAS 158Employers’Accounting fo
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretiremeahs. At December 31, 2007 the underlying plan assketevand
projected benefit obligation were $889.1 milliorde$854.3 million, respectively, resulting in a dugpof $34.8 million
Further disclosure is provided in Note 6 of the ééoto the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value angepted benefit obligation are dependent on acttaln on
investments and pay awards as well as our assumsptiaespect of the discount rate, annual memlogtafity rates,
future return on assets, future pay escalationyéupension increases and future inflation. We lbgvinese
assumptions after considering advice from a mdmsaj actuarial consulting firm. A change in anyemf these
assumptions could impact the plan asset valueggel benefit obligation and pension cost recoghize¢he income
statement. Such changes could impact our operagswdts and financial position. A 0.25% changeitihes the discour
rate assumption, or level of price inflation asstiorg would change the projected benefit obligatigrapproximately
$30 million and the net pension charge for 200&jyroximately $0.2 million.

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was perfoaras at December 31, 2005 and an update performatd a
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the results of boirhath are reflected in these consolidated finarstialements. The
Company is contributing amounts to the Plan to ceeevice costs to date. Employee and employerriboions from
January 1, 2007 were
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at 7% and 29%, respectively, of pensionable pagdtition, since March 2007, the Company has beatributing $3
million per calendar year in accordance with a é@rydeficit recovery plan. The estimated level ofrfpany
contributions into the Plan for 2008 is $8.9 mitlio

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance and Uncertai Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2007, we had a valuation allowaggregating $8.8 million against all of our foretgm credit carry
forwards and certain of our foreign deferred tasets The valuation allowance was calculated in@ance with the
provisions of FAS 109\ ccounting for Income Taxesvhich requires an assessment of both negativepasitive
evidence when measuring the need for a valuatiowahce. In accordance with FAS 109, evidence, sisobperating
results during the most recent periods, is givenemeeight than our expectations of future profiiggiwhich are
inherently uncertain. Our expectation is that weewalikely to use the foreign tax credits and utaety about
profitability in certain foreign locations for futel periods represented sufficient negative evidémecequire a valuation
allowance under FAS 109. We intend to maintainlaatéon allowance until sufficient positive evidenexists to
support the realization of such assets.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves éwating uncertainties in the application of complax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audituses based on our estimate of whether, and thetexterhich, additional
taxes will be required. If we ultimately determith@t payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weeseethe liability
and recognize a tax benefit during the period iictviive determine that the liability is no longecassary.

We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thatmore likely than not that our positions wi# Bustained when
challenged by the taxing authorities in accordamitie the recognition criteria of FASB Interpretatidlo 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Ta>(“FIN 48”). To the extent we prevail in matters fwhich liabilities have
been established, or are required to pay amourmsaess of our liabilities, our effective tax rate given period may
be materially affected. An unfavorable tax settlatmaay require cash payments and result in anaseren our
effective tax rate in the year of resolution. Adeable tax settlement may be recognized as a rieductour effective
tax rate in the year of resolution. We report iestiand penalties related to uncertain income ¢akipns as income
taxes. For additional information regarding undartacome tax positions see Note 7 of the NotatéoConsolidated
Financial Statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations — Fiscal 2007 compared to el 2006:

The following table providing operating income l@porting business also provides the comparativdtsesf
operations in 2006 and 2005.

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $374.¢ $311.: $ 257.1
Active Chemicals 133.¢ 120.4 109.4
Octane Additive: 94.C 100.4 198.:

$602. $532.1 $ 564.¢

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $124.7 $106.- $ 83t
Active Chemicals 24 ¢ 22.1 17.€
Octane Additive: 48.1 57.¢ 99.(C

$197 .4 $186.7 $ 200.1

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $ 63.€ $ 45.7 $ 26.2
Active Chemicals 6.1 5.8 1.C
Octane Additive: 19.€ 34.5 69.2
FAS 158/87 pension char (4.€) — (2.7
Corporate cost (22.0) (22.1) (26.7)
Restructuring charg (3.0 (4.5 (31.9)
Impairment of Octane Additive business good (12.7) (36.7) (134.4)
Profit on disposals (ne — 9.2 —

Total operating income/(los $47.¢ $ 31.¢ $ (97.9)
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Change
(in millions except ratios) 2007 2006
Net sales:
Fuel Specialtie $ 374.¢ $311.: $ 63.2 +2C%
Active Chemicals 133.¢ 120.¢ 13.4 +11%
Octane Additive: 94.C 100.4 (6.4) -6%

$ 602.4 $ 532.1 $ 70.: +13%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $124.7 $106.2 $ 18t +17%

Active Chemicals 24.¢ 227 1.6 +8%

Octane Additive: 48.1 57.¢ (9.7 -17%
$197.¢ $ 186.7 $ 10.7 +6%

Gross margin (%)

Fuel Specialtie 33.3 34.1 -0.8

Active Chemicals 18.4 18.9 -0.5

Octane Additive: 51.2 57.6 -6.4

Aggregate 32.8 35.1 -2.3

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $(39.0 $(B9.9 $ 0.2 -1%

Active Chemicals (17.7) (15.5) (1.€) +1C%

Octane Additive: (14.¢) (13.9) (1.6 +12%

FAS 158/87 pension char: (4.€) — (4.€) +10(%

Corporate cost (22.0) (22.7) 0.1 -0%
$(117.5  $(110.) $ (7.9 +7%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe year on year increase of 20% was spread attr@ssarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 25%), EMEA (up 12%), ASPAC (up 19%l #&vtel (up 44%). This growth was due to volume {i4p
percentage points) and the favorable impact of &xgé rates (up 6 percentage points).

* Americas benefited from strong sales of lubricitgqucts, cetane number improvers and corrosiormituns.
Growth was focused in volume (up 15 percentagetgpand price and product mix (up 10 percentagetpp

» Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) benefitesbin strong sales of performance and refinery prtsduc
Growth was focused in volume (up 6 percentage ppand the favorable impact of exchange rates 8up 1
percentage points) offset by price and product (aown 7 percentage points). Net sales increased 21%
excluding the impact of a o-off contract in 2006 that did not recur in 20

» Asia Pacific ("ASPAC”) benefited from strong satefsmarine products. Growth was focused in volunge3a
percentage points) and the favorable impact of &xgé rates (up 1 percentage point) offset by ek
product mix (down 18 percentage poin
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» The TEL for use in aviation gasoline (“Avtel”) busiss growth was due to volume (up 21 percentages)oi
and price (up 23 percentage points). The results wesitively impacted by the more favorable pigcin
allowed, and the volumes to be sold, under thelEtglement

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 0.8 percentage po#iflsats both the lower proportion of higher margin
Avtel sales together with the adverse impact ofdoWEL production volumes on the fixed cost basthef
manufacturing site at Ellesmere Port, United Kingd&ross margins in the remainder of the marketaneed largely
constant as we successfully passed raw matercd prcreases onto our customers.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of $7.1 million of orniere professional fees and a customer claim induirr
2006 the year on year increase in operating exgemas $6.8 million or 13%. The underlying 13% irs® was less
than the 20% sales growth as we continued to |geettze infrastructure of this business.

Active Chemicals

Net salesthe year on year increase of 11% was spread attr@ssarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 12%), EMEA (up 12%) and ASPAC (up 4%)is growth was due to volume (up 4 percentagetppi
the favorable impact of exchange rates (up 6 p#agernpoints) and price and product mix (up 1 pdegapoints).

» Americas benefited from strong sales of persona aad fragrance products accounting for $2.4 omland
$3.7 million of the growth, respectively. This waféset by a $1.0 million reduction in our custom
manufacturing revenues primarily due to the slowlan the U.S. construction indust

* EMEA primarily benefited from strong polymer saiekich increased $7.3 million year on year. Thereewe
also stronger sales in respect of our fragrancemess

» Our ASPAC business currently represents less tB&& df our overall Active Chemicals business reftegthe
embryonic stage of its development. Notwithstandimg, sales were driven higher by the strong parémce
in polymer and fragrance products consistent withather geographical regior

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 0.5 percentage poaflsats our strategy in the latter half of 200 feduce
inventories and release cash by lowering our pricslu@olumes. This had the short term impact ofeadgly impacting
unit manufacturing costs and margins.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 10% is due to theradvmpact of exchange rates (up 6 percentage
points) and inflation (up 4 percentage points). TB&b increase was less than the 11% sales growtle asntinued to
leverage the infrastructure of this business.
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Octane Additives

Net sales2006 benefited from the release of a retrospegtiicdng provision which contributed $6.6 million tet
sales and $4.5 million to operating income. Exclgdihe impact of this release net sales were condespite volumes
declining 5%. This reflected a richer sales mix amatlerate price increases in 2007. In both 20072806 sales were
focused in the Middle East and Africa.

Gross marginthe year on year decline is 6.4 percentage pdiaxisluding the impact of the release of a retrospect
pricing provision in 2006 the year on year decls8.6 percentage points. Following the settlemegarding the
TMAs effective April 1, 2007 the profit share wiltthyl from this business which was charged witlostof goods so
has ceased. The cessation of the TMAs, togethérti richer sales mix and moderate price increaseigved in
2007, has favorably impacted gross margin andédithihe adverse impact of lower TEL production vadsron the
fixed cost base of the manufacturing site at ElsPort, United Kingdom.

Operating expensesxcluding the impact of $4.6 million of legal exges and accruals, related to the SEC’s
investigation of the United Nations Oil for FoodBram incurred in 2007 or to be incurred in 2008, year on year
decrease in operating expenses was $3.0 milli@3%. The majority of the savings were made in respkthe wind
down of the French and South African sales offeed a headcount reduction within sales.

Other Income Statement Captions

FAS 158/87 pension chargwe were required to recognize a non-cash chard.6fmillion in 2007 primarily in
respect of the amortization of net actuarial losBlessimilar charge was required to be recognine2D06.

Corporate costsyear on year corporate costs declined $0.1 mitliespite the adverse impact of the relative weaknes:s
of the U.S. dollar on a predominantly British powstdrling cost base due to savings generated ivi. 208 savings
resulted from lower professional fees since 20@6uoed costs incurred following the Company’s stvitc the Nasdaq
Stock Market on March 21, 2006 and name changawunaly 30, 2006.

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs are comprised of the following:

2007 200€
(in millions)
United Kingdom site clearan $1.2 $1.4
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesildge Port sit 0.8 0.2
Reduction in Active Chemicals United Kingdom headuo 0.4 —
Additional payments in respect of the former C 0.1 0.€
Cost reduction program on the United Kingdom Octadditives site — 1.€
Relocation and closure costs of a U.S. Active Chalsisite — 0.4
Sundry other restructurir 0.t 0.z

$3.C %4t
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Amortization of intangible assetthe increased amortization expense of $4.2 millo2007 relates to the intangible
asset recognized in respect of the payment to Ettiyth represented Ethyl foregoing their entitleti® a share of the
future income stream under the TMAs effective ApriP007. The amount attributed to the Octane Adeltbusiness
segment is being amortized straidgihe to December 31, 2010 and the amount attribtdelde Fuel Specialties busin
segment is being amortized straight-line to Decearhe2017.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2006 charge was higher than that recogniz€007 primarily
due to the higher operating income and associatsll fows in 2006. Since the end of 2006, we hapdated the
estimates used in the detailed forecast modelltnlede the impairment charges to include effecAypeil 1, 2007 the
fact that we will no longer be sharing with Ethlgétprofits from the sale of TEL outside North Ancexi

Interest expense (nethe net interest charge increased moderately [&/r@0lion in 2007 to $7.0 million. This was
primarily due to 2006 including the receipt of $&n8lion interest previously charged on a tax bakgroffset by the fa
that average net debt fell by approximately $10iomlbetween the corresponding periods from $7Tionito $67
million.

Other net income/(expens&):2007 other net income comprised $7.5 milliomespect of foreign exchange gains of
by $0.6 million of other sundry expenses. In 20€6&0onet income comprised $7.6 million in respddbeeign
exchange gains offset by $0.8 million of other syrekpenses.

Income taxestax relief is not available on the charge for immpeent of Octane Additives business goodwill and
accordingly we believe that the change in the éffeadate of tax to 38.2% in 2007 from 64.2% in 806 best explaine
by adjusting for this non-deductible charge. Thlpiated effective tax rate has increased 0.6 p&gerpoints between
the corresponding periods primarily due to theiar@f profits and the continued increased profiigbof our U.S.
based Fuel Specialties business which incurs #melatd federal tax rate of 35%, together with dtstes, offset by the
favorable conclusion of some historic tax matters.

(in millions) 2007 2006
Income before income tax E E
Add back Impairment of Octane Additives businessdyall 12.1 36.7
@ $68.5
Income taxe: @ @
Adjusted effective tax rai E% E%
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2006 compared to €&l 2005:

Change
(in millions except ratios) 2006 2005
Net sales:
Fuel Specialtie $ 311 $ 257.1 $ 54.2 +21%
Active Chemicals 120.¢ 109.¢ 11.C +1C%
Octane Additive: 100.4 198.: (97.9) -49%
$ 532.1 $ 564.¢ $(32.7) -6%
Gross profit:
Fuel Specialtie $ 106.Z $ 83t $ 227 +27%
Active Chemicals 22.7 17.€ 5.1 +2S%
Octane Additive: 57.¢ 99.C (41.2) -42%
$ 186.7 $ 200.1 $(13.9 -1%
Gross margin (%)
Fuel Specialtie 34.1 325 +1.6
Active Chemicals 18.9 16.1 +2.8
Octane Additive: 57.6 49.9 +7.7
Aggregate 35.1 354 -0.3
Operating expenses
Fuel Specialtie $(59.° $(56.1) % 3.2 +6%
Active Chemicals (15.5) (15.2) (0.9 +2%
Octane Additive: (13.2) (19.7) 6.5 -33%
FAS 158/87 pension charge =
— (1.7 1.7 10C%
Corporate cost (22.1) (26.7) 4.€ -17%
$(110.7) $(119.9) $ 9.3 -8%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe year on year increase of 21% was spread attr@ssarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 21%), EMEA (up 17%), ASPAC (up 60%0l #&vtel (up 6%).

* Americas sales were driven by our strong markeditepposition in diesel fuel additives and the U.S.
governmer’s adoption early in 2006 of new ultra low sulfueskl regulations

* Approximately half of the EMEA sales growth was dae on-off contract with a single custome
» The ASPAC growth was due to the benefit generatad tustomer contracts entered into early in 2

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.6 percentage peedsocused in the Americas and offset the lower
margins seen in EMEA and ASPAC. The Americas gnoasgin
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benefited from sales prices increases implemerady | 2006 and tight control of material costeotlghout the year.
The EMEA gross margin was diluted by the impac ohe-off contract with a single customer and t&#AC gross
margin was impacted by product mix.

Operating expense2006 included the impact of $7.1 million of one-¢iprofessional fees and a customer claim
incurred. 2005 included the impact of $5.9 mill@hOFAC related costs. Excluding these items, thaeulying 4%
increase in operating expenses was significansly tean the 21% sales growth as we leveraged filastiructure of thi
business.

Active Chemicals

Net salessales growth in 2006 was spread across each aidhadual operations which comprise this businéss.
absolute dollar terms however, the growth was fedus our aroma fragrances business and our sarfiscand
emollients business. Our aroma fragrances busherssfited from price increases throughout 2006gaedter
production capacity which came on stream in thedatages of the year. During 2006 our surfactantsemollients
business leveraged its customer base to incredlsesles prices and volumes across almost al girdduct range.

Gross marginthe business delivered a 29% increase in grosg proich was significantly in excess of the 10%esal
growth. This increase was generated from a 2.8pésige points improvement in gross margins spreaxss each of
the individual operations which comprise this besmsegment.

Operating expenseshe year on year increase was limited to 2% desipiesales growth of 10%. This sales growth anc
tight cost control has been achieved by leveratiiegnfrastructure of this business.

Octane Additives

Net salesthe sales decline was limited to 49% in dollar tedaspite volumes decreasing 63% primarily dubeo t
richer sales mix in 2006, compared to 2005, anderaid price increases achieved during 2006. Saleswes were
adversely impacted by South Africa leaving the reaf&ar TEL for use in automotive gasoline at thertsof the year,
and the absence in 2006 of significant shipmen&otath East Asia. However, sales to the Middle Ea2006
remained resilient.

Gross marginthe 7.7 percentage points improvement in gross imaeflected the richer sales mix and moderateepric
increases achieved during 2006.

Operating expensethe 33% reduction in operating expenses comparéetd9% sales decline experienced in this
business. The majority of the savings were geneffaten reduced commission charges caused by trenabof sales
to South East Asia.
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Other Income Statement Captions

FAS 158/87 pension chargwe were required to recognize a non-cash charg&.@fmillion in 2005 primarily in
respect of the amortization of prior service cbii.similar charge was required to be recognize2DiD6.

Corporate costsyear on year corporate costs declined $4.6 mitlioa to the restructuring of the corporate functions
and reduced costs in relation to Sarbanes Oxleypbkante. This was achieved despite the fact 200@ided costs
incurred following the Company’s switch to the Nagdbtock Market on March 21, 2006 and name change o
January 30, 2006. There were also significant aestsgnized in 2005 for the special investigatitio ithe transfer of
funds in South Africa by the former CEO.

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs are comprised of the following:

200€

(in millions) 2005
Cost reduction program on the United Kingdom Octadditives site $1.€ $ 2.2
United Kingdom site clearan: 1.4 3.4
Additional payments in respect of the former C 0.€ 4.C
Relocation and closure costs of a U.S. Active Clalsisite 0.4 0.4
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesiléze Port sit 0.2 1.z
United Kingdom pension curtailment charge under B&S — 12.5
Disposal of the Adastra diesel particulate filteusiness — 2.C
Relocation and closure of a United Kingdom Fuelhredogy Centre — 2.C
Reduction in Corporate United Kingdom headcount — 1.€
Severance costs of leavers staying beyond congéiaottice periods — 1.4
Reduction in Fuel Specialties United Kingdom heathto — 0.€
Sundry other restructurir 0.2 —

$4.5  $31.C

Amortization of intangible assetthe amortization charge was $12.7 million in 2006 2005 reflecting the fact our
intangible assets are amortized to the incomemt&ateusing the straight-line method over theimeated useful lives.
There were no significant intangible asset addgiondisposals in 2006 or 2005 that would impaetaimortization
charge.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2005 charge was significantly higher than thabgnized in
2006 due to the loss of anticipated sales and edsdacash flows from Venezuela, a major customehe second
guarter of 2005. In 2006 there were no significdr@gnges in the estimates used in the detaileddstecodel to
calculate the impairment charges.

Profit on disposal (netithe Company recognized $9.6 million profit followithe disposal of surplus real estate in the
United Kingdom. This was patrtially offset by pregpdisposal costs of $0.4 million.

Interest expense (nenet interest expense declined by $0.8 million i0@@ $6.8 million. This was primarily due to
2006 including the receipt of $0.6 million intergseviously
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charged on a tax balance, and the fact that averetgdebt fell by approximately $30 million betwebe correspondir
periods from $107 million to $77 million. Moreovéhjs reduced net interest expense was achievgutedise fact that
the U.S. base interest rate rose between the pomdsg periods.

Other net income/(expens&):2006 other net income comprised $7.6 milliomaspect of foreign exchange gains ol
by $0.8 million of other sundry expenses. In 20€f0net expense comprised a $5.5 million chargéh®write-off of
the Company’s investment in Stylacats in the tqudrter, a charge of $1.2 million to fully providgainst two other
investments, a $3.7 million charge for exchangeden forward foreign exchange contracts anddilidn of other
sundry expenses.

Income taxestax relief is not available on the charge for immpeent of Octane Additives business goodwill and
accordingly we believe that the change in the éffeaate of tax to 64.2% in 2006 from (3.5)% irD80s best
explained by adjusting for this non-deductible ¢gearThis adjusted effective tax rate has incredsggercentage
points between the corresponding periods primaltly to the origin of profits, exhaustion of U.St aperating losses
and increased profitability of our U.S. based Fa@cialties business which incurs the standarddétiex rate of 35%,
together with state taxes.

(in millions) 2006 2005
Income/(loss) before income tax E $(118.])
Add back Impairment of Octane Additives businessdyall 36.7 134.4
$68.5 $ 16.c
Income taxe: E $ 4.2
Adjusted effective tax rat E% 25.8%

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

At December 31, 2007, we had working capital of%2Imillion (defined by the Company as accountgirable,
inventories, prepaid expenses, accounts payabla@mded liabilities rather than total current és$ess total current
liabilities). In 2007 our working capital increasey $17.3 million. The $15.8 million increase ircaants receivable
and prepaid expenses was spread across our thsieessiunits as a result of the increased tradiogii Fuel
Specialties and Active Chemicals growth busineasésthe impact of the timing of Octane Additivegpsients
compared to the corresponding period last yeaeritories increased by $12.6 million also in alethbusiness units
though it was focused in Fuel Specialties and Qcsaditives, the latter being due to the unwindpproximately
$12.0 million of Ethyl inventory working capitalrangements following the settlement regarding the\3. The $11.1
million increase in accounts payable and accruilliies was limited to a moderate increase withative Chemicals
due to increased trading levels, and somewhatrdangeeases within Fuel Specialties and Octane h\ddi reflecting
the significantly increased trading levels and geition of a $3.7 million legal accrual, respeclye

41



Table of Contents

Cash
At December 31, 2007 and 2006 we had cash andecpstalents of $24.3 million and $101.9 millionspectively.
Debt

At December 31, 2007 we had a credit facility whichvides for borrowings by us of up to $175.0 ioillincluding a
term loan of $75.0 million and revolving credit ifdg of $100.0 million. The revolving credit fady can be drawn
down upon until the financing facility expires aimé 12, 2009. The facility also contains terms Whitbreached,
would result in the loan becoming repayable on dem# requires, among other matters, compliandk two financia
covenant ratios. These ratios are (1) the ratimedtdebt to EBITDA and (2) the ratio of net intéresEBITA. EBITDA
and EBITA are non U.S. GAAP measures of liquidigfided in the finance facility. In the event thia¢ tratio of net
debt to EBITDA exceeds 2.0 then in addition to éhesvenants, the facility also requires a “lookvard” test and an
additional financial covenant ratio in the formnaft operating cash flow before finance costs teduled debt
amortization and interest costs. This “look forwakkt was not applicable to the Company during72@0e to such
ratio not being exceeded.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $81.0omitf debt outstanding under its senior creditlitgcagreement
and was in compliance with all financial covenahtyein. The debt profile as at December 31, 2D@yding the
principal facility, is set out below:

(in millions)

2008 $ 20.C

2009 61.C

2010 —
81.C

Current portion of lon-term debr (20.0

Long-term debt, net of current portic $61.C

On January 31, 2008 the Company repaid the schet@@@.0 million under the term loan facility anagardown $20.0
million under the revolving credit facility.

Pension Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits

Effective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adopgteziprovisions of FAS 15&mployers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Pl. FAS 158 requires that the funded status of ddfipenefit
postretirement plans be recognized on the Compamyisolidated balance sheets, and changes inrtdedwstatus be
reflected in comprehensive income. FAS 158 alsaireq the measurement date of the plan’s fundedssta be the
same as the Company’s fiscal year-end. Althougmtbasurement date provision was not required tdboeted until
fiscal year 2008 the Company early-adopted thigipran for fiscal year 2006. The effect of applyiR4S 158 was to
record a total reduction to equity through recdgniin other comprehensive loss of $97.0 millionammafter-tax basis.
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Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitmentSetember 31, 2007 and the effect of those obbgaton future
cash flows:-

Less than : 1to3 Over 5
Years 4t05

(in millions) Total year years years
Long-term debt obligation $81C $ 20C $61.C $— $—
Remediation paymen 23.¢ 2.2 7.C 2.4 12.2
Severance paymer 2.4 1.¢ 0.t — —
Raw material purchase obligatic 7.C 7.C — — —
Capital commitment 1.€ 1.€ — — —
Operating lease commitmer 9.4 1.8 2.8 2.C 2.€
Interest payments on de 6.1 4.1 2.C — —
Planned funding of pension obligatic 35.7 8.¢ 17.¢ 8.€ —
Total $167.C $ 475 $91.z $13.5  $15.C

At December 31, 2007 long-term debt comprised aGibllion term loan and $6.0 million drawn undketrevolving
credit facility. At the same date long-term debligdtions represent scheduled term loan repaynamsamounts
drawn under the revolving credit facility repaidevhthe financing facility expires on June 12, 20D8.January 31,
2008 the Company repaid the scheduled $20.0 millimder the term loan facility and drew down $20i0iom under
the revolving credit facility.

Remediation payments represent those cash flowshih& ompany is currently obligated to pay in extmf current
and former facilities. It does not include any diimnary remediation costs that the Company mapsé to incur.

Severance payments represent those cash flowthéh&@ompany is currently obligated to pay in respéseverance
costs recognized under the conditions of FAS P8punting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disgddctivities, anc
FAS 112 Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettaigterm raw material contracts which have been entetedoy the
Company that stipulate fixed or minimum quantite®e purchased; fixed, minimum, or variable ppecevisions; and
the approximate timing of the transaction. Purclwdigations exclude agreements that are cancellatthout penalty.

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptgehat the Company has committed to undertake.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily tacefspace, motor vehicles and items of office eapaipt which are
expected to be renewed and replaced in the nomoase of business.

43



Table of Contents

The Company is subject to interest at variablesratecertain elements of its long-term debt. Thieneded payments
included in the table above assume a constantdas® interest rate of 3.5% on the main creditifgcEstimated
commitment fees are also included and interestmecis excluded.

The amounts related to the pension plan referddiltely levels of Company funding of the Unitedngdom
contributory defined benefit pension plan and éenension commitments to senior employees. lbtsnmeaningful to
predict an amount after five years since therenareerous uncertainties including future return ssess, pay
escalation, pension increases, inflation and enmpéoyt levels.

Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

The Company is subject to environmental laws imBthe countries in which it operates. Under garévironmental
laws the Company is responsible for the remediadfdmzardous substances or wastes at currenttyroerly owned
or operated properties.

Most of our manufacturing operations have been gotadl outside the U.S. and, therefore, any lighygértaining to th
investigation and remediation of contaminated priogeis likely to be determined under non-U.S..law

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminarahdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fudl@ion is made
for those costs to which we are committed underrenmnental laws. Full provision has been made tierdacommitted
costs of $23.8 million. Expenditure against prauis was $1.7 million, $1.3 million and $2.2 millionthe years 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

We have also incurred personnel severance costaition to the management of the decline in thea@x Additives
market and the restructuring of the Fuel Specmhied Active Chemicals businesses. Total sevemxmenditure was
$2.0 million, $7.0 million, $9.7 million in the yem2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Provisianasle for severance
costs under the conditions of FAS 146 and FAS 112.

Contingencies
Qil for Food

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamhranenced
an investigation to determine whether any violatiohlaw had occurred in connection with transaxgtioonducted by
the Company, including its wholly owned indirecbsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”),2wiss
company, under the United Nations Oil for Food Paog (“OFFP”) between June 1, 1999 and Decembe2@13. As
part of its investigation, the SEC issued a subaagequiring the production of certain documentsluding documents
relating to these transactions, by the CompanyAdcar. Upon receipt of the SEC’s notification amitial subpoena,
the Company undertook a review of its participatimthe OFFP. On October 10, 2007 and Novembe®Q7 2he SEC
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served two additional subpoenas on the CompanyseTadditional subpoenas required the productiaoofiments
relating notably to the OFFP but also relatingréms$actions conducted by the Company or its sulrsedi with state
owned or controlled entities between June 1, 19@Bthe date of such subpoenas, relating to itolik#eign agents
and the possibility of extra-contractual paymeng&eto secure business with foreign governmentdie=n In a co-
ordinated investigation, the Company has also beatacted by the U.S. Department of Justice (“D@dfgarding the
possibility of violations of relevant laws in theeas contained in the SEC subpoenas as well asceddipreliminary
inquiries regarding compliance with anti-trust langating to U.S. and international tetra ethydl@aarkets. The
subjects into which the SEC and DOJ have inquimetide areas that involve certain former and care@ecutives of
the Company including the current CEO. The Company,its officers and directors, are cooperatinpwie SEC and
DOJ investigations. On February 19, 2008, the Boaidirectors of the Company formed a committee posed of th
chairmen of the Board, the Audit Committee andNleeninating and Governance Committee respectivdllpf avthom
are independent directors. Counsel to the Comganyjding assistance to the committee has, on behd#ie
committee, conducted and will continue to conduciraestigation into the circumstances giving ts¢he SEC and
DOJ investigations. Counsel will report directlyth@ committee and will assist in connection witteractions with the
SEC and DOJ. While the outcome of these investigatis uncertain, a number of companies involvetiénOFFP
investigations have been required to disgorge tsrafid pay civil fines and penalties up to $30iomill As a result of
information discovered in the course of the ingegipon, we expect that we will be required to drggoprofits and pay
fines and penalties that could be of similar magtet Any settlement of the SEC and DOJ inquiriéstireg to matters
beyond the OFFP could require the Company to maksfisant additional disgorgements, penalty amefpayments.
However at this time management is not able toipr&dth certainty the level of such fines and péra. Because of
the uncertainties associated with the ultimate @ute of these investigations and the costs to thegaay of
responding and patrticipating in these on-going stigations, no assurance can be given that thmatk costs and
sanctions that may be imposed upon us will not lzaneterial adverse effect on our results of operat financial
position and cash flows from operating activiti@&December 31, 2007 we have accrued $3.7 millorespect of
probable future legal expenses in respect of tlaigkenand have provided no additional accrualsHigrmatter.

Inflation

Inflation has not been a significant factor for @empany over the last several years. Managemdetbs that
inflation will continue to be moderate over the heaveral years.

Cautionary Statement for Safe Harbor Purposes

Certain written and oral statements made by our 2oy and subsidiaries or with the approval of ahanized
executive officer of our Company, including statesemade in the Management’s Discussion and Argabyfsi
Financial Condition and Results of Operations eeehere in this report and in other filings witle Becurities and
Exchange Commission,
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may constitute “forward-looking statements” as dedi in the Private Securities Litigation Reform A€1995.
Forward-looking statements include all statemeritelwvaddress operating performance, events or dengints that
we expect or anticipate will occur in the futumecluding, without limitation, all of the Companygsiidance for
revenues, gross margins, net income and other mesastifinancial performance. Although such statetmare
believed by management to be reasonable when roadon should be exercised not to place unduamedi on
forward4ooking statements, which are subject to certaiksti uncertainties and assumptions. If the riskengertaintie
ever materialize or the assumptions prove incoreaxttial results may differ materially from thos@ressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements and assumptigisks, assumptions and uncertainties include ouitfimitation,
changes in the terms of trading with significanétomers or gain or loss thereof, our ability totoare to achieve
organic growth in our Fuel Specialties and Active®icals businesses, our ability to successfutggrate any
acquisitions in those business segments, the sfééathanging government regulations and econormimaarket
conditions, competition and changes in demand asthbss and legal risks inherent in non-U.S. aasjiincluding
political and economic uncertainty, import and exfinitations and market risks related to chanigesterest rates ai
foreign exchange rates, government investigatioragerial fines or other penalties resulting from @ompany’s
voluntary disclosure to the Office of Foreign Ass€bntrol of the U.S. Department of the Treasurg,ihvestigation b
the Securities and Exchange Commission and theéfartment of Justice into the Company’s partiogpain the
United Nations Oil for Food Program or other regiuta actions and other risks, uncertainties andrapsions
identified in the Company’s Annual Report on ForfaKlL for the year ended December 31, 2007 and tidaseified in
the Company’s other reports filed with the Secesitaind Exchange Commission. The Company undentakes
obligation to publicly update or revise any forwdmdking statements, whether as a result of nearmétion, future
events or otherwise.

46



Table of Contents

ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company operates manufacturing and blendirilities; offices and laboratories around the wottthugh the
largest manufacturing facility is located in theildd Kingdom. The Company sells a range of FuecBiees, Active
Chemicals and Octane Additives to customers ardliaavorld. The Company uses floating rate debintanice these
global operations. Consequently, the Company igestiln business risks inherent in non-U.S. adgsitincluding
political and economic uncertainty, import and expionitations, and market risk related to changemmterest rates ar
foreign exchange rates. The political and econaisks are mitigated by the stability of the couedrin which the
Company’s largest operations are located. Craditdj ongoing credit evaluation and account momitpprocedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.

The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to genaarket risks. The derivatives used in hedginiyites are
considered risk management tools and are not wsdchtling purposes. In addition, the Company entéo derivative
instruments with a diversified group of major ficéal institutions in order to monitor the expostweon-performance
of such instruments. The Company’s objective in agiamg exposure to changes in interest rates isibthe impact of
such changes on earnings and cash flows and to lmweeall borrowing costs. The Company’s objectivenanaging
the exposure to changes in foreign exchange ratesreduce volatility on earnings and cash flossoaiated with such
changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teates contracts. As manufacturing costs and rawmatg are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigss to hedge the price of some raw materialsréuiscing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The deriwasi are considered risk management tools and aresad for trading
purposes. The Company’s objective is to managexpesure to fluctuating prices of raw materials.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest swaps to manage intatestxposure. As of December 31, 2007 the Compadycash
and cash equivalents of $24.3 million, no bank dxagt and longerm debt (including current portion) of $81.0 noitl.
The long-term debt comprised $75.0 million sengnt loan and $6.0 million revolving credit.

In 2005 and 2007 the Company entered into intem@ap agreements to convert floating rate debixexfrate that
cover $30.0 million and $20.0 million, respectivedy the remaining long-term debt (including cutrpartion) as at
December 31, 2007 of $81.0 million. On the basié #50.0 million of the $81.0 million long-term demcluding
current portion) is hedged against interest movesnand that the Company would receive interesher$24.3 million
positive cash balances, then unhedged debt of $8illion is largely covered by the positive cashabpaes. On a gross
basis, assuming no additional interest on the batdnces, a hypothetical absolute change of 1% hhse interest
rates on the gross amount of these balances d §dllion for a one-year period would impact netame and cash
flows by approximately $0.2 million before tax.
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The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action to
mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuesmanrs some operating costs in currencies ottaer the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company & thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency of @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in which
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gommwperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the marketvhich they operate. In addition, the finangiasition and results
of operations of some of our foreign subsidiariesraported in the relevant local currency and tn@nslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfibusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonl&uro and
British pound sterling. Changes in exchange ragdéaden these foreign currencies and the U.S. dellhaffect the
recorded levels of our assets and liabilitieshtdxtent such figures reflect the inclusion oéfgn assets and liabilities
that are translated into U.S. dollars for presémrtan our financial statements, as well as ouultef operations.

The trading of our three business segments areantig naturally hedged and accordingly changesxtchange rates
would not be material to our earnings or finanpiasition. Corporate costs however are largely denated in British
pound sterling. A 5% strengthening in the U.S. alodlgainst British pound sterling would increageoréed operating
income by approximately $1.3 million.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has lnsed as an illustration, a 5% weakening woulehpeected to ha
the opposite effect on operating income.

Raw Material Price Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amatggnin our manufacturing and blending processeswbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@ased feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant price instability. These fluctuatiomsprice can be caused by political instability ihppoducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global $ymd demand over which we have no or little colninnospec has
entered hedging arrangements for certain raw nadgebut does not typically enter into hedging ageaments for all
raw materials, chemicals or energy costs. Shoutsaaf raw materials, chemicals or energy increase should
Innospec’s businesses not be able to pass on¢bssacreases to our customers, then operatinginsaand cash
flows from operating activities would be advershpacted. Should raw material prices increase fogmtly, then the
Company’s need for working capital could increaséch would adversely impact cash flows from op@gactivities.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimg
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bedasheets and the related consolidated statemientsome,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows present faifyall material respects, the financial positidirmospec Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and Decemb&0886, and the results of their operations and tesh flows for
each of the three years in the period ended DeaeBih@007 in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally
accepted in the United States of America. Alsounapinion, the Company maintained, in all matergspects,
effective internal control over financial reporting of December 31, 2007, based on criteria estaddliin Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cossion
(COSO0). The Company’s management is responsiblinése financial statements, for maintaining eitecinternal
control over financial reporting and for its asseest of the effectiveness of internal control ofireancial reporting,
included in “Management’s Report On Internal Con@®eer Financial Reporting” appearing in Iltem 9Atbis Form
10-K. Our responsibility is to express opinionstlese financial statements and on the Companyésnat control over
financial reporting based on our integrated aullite.conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unitedt&s). Those standards require that we plan aridrpethe
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whisiinénancial statements are free of material tatesnent and
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udits of the
financial statements included examining, on akasts, evidence supporting the amounts and disessa the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiplas used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and
evaluating the overall financial statement prederiaOur audit of internal control over financraporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control diraincial reporting, assessing the risk that aematweakness exisi
and testing and evaluating the design and operatffegtiveness of internal control based on thess=d risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslas we considered necessary in the circumstaieebelieve that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opsi

As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Findstatements, the Company changed the manner chvithccounts
for share based compensation on adoption of FAR 12Bare-Based Paymengffective January 1, 2006, defined
benefit pension plans on adoption of FAS 1IE&ployers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiod ®ther
Postretirement Plan, effective December 31, 2006, and uncertain tasitioms on adoption of FIN 4&ccounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxe®ffective January 1, 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesmssuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsgsimgernal control over financial reporting inckslthose policies
and
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procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenanceodnds that, in reasonable detail, accurately amly freflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets aahgany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thas#etions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance with generally g@ecegccounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®@icbmpany are being made only in accordance withoazations of
management and directors of the company; and(yide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or aigon of the companyg’assets that could have a material effect o
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesiés future periods are subject to the risk thatrais may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 25, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share data)

Years ended December 3

2007 2006 2005

Net sales (Note & $ 602. $ 532.1 $ 564.¢
Cost of goods sol (405.0 (345.9 (364.7)
Gross profit (Note 3 197. 186.7 200.]
Operating expense

Selling, general and administrati (103.9) (99.0 (108.2)

Research and developme (13.€) (11.7) (11.2)
Restructuring charg (3.0 (4.5 (31.9)
Amortization of intangible asse (16.9) (12.7) (22.7)
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{#\9) (22.7) (36.7) (134.9)
Profit on disposals, net (Note 2 — 9.2 —

(149.5 (154.9 (297.9

Operating income/(loss) (Note 47.C 31.€ (97.7)
Interest expens (9.5 (12.1) (9.5
Interest incomt 2.5 5.3 1.6
Other net income/(expens 6.S 6.8 (12.€)
Income/(loss) before income taxes and minorityrggt 47.¢ 31.€ (117.9
Minority interest (0.1 (0.2 (0.2
Income/(loss) before income tax 47.7 31.€ (118.])
Income taxes (Note ° (18.2) (20.9 4.2
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic 29.t 11.4 (122.9)
Discontinued operations, net of tax (Note — — (1.9
Net income/(loss $ 29t $ 114 $(123.79)
Earnings/(loss) per share (Note

Basic $ 1.2¢ $ 0.47 $ (5.00)

Diluted $ 1.a¢ $ 0.4t $ (5.00
Earnings/(loss) per sha- continuing operations (Note

Basic $ 1.2t $ 0.47 $ (4.99

Diluted $ 1.a¢ $ 0.4t $ (4.99
Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousdNd$g 5)

Basic 23,92( 24,14 24,73\

Diluted 24,83¢ 25,33¢ 24,730

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except per share data)

Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable (less allowance of $2.0 an8,$2spectively

Inventories
Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw materials

Total inventories
Prepaid expenst

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipment (Note
Goodwill - Octane Additives (Note ¢
Goodwill - Other (Note 9

Intangible assets (Note 1

Pension asset (Note

Deferred finance costs (Note 1
Deferred income taxes (Note

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity

Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxe
Shor-term borrowing (Note 14
Current portion of plant closure provisions (No&
Current portion of unrecognized tax benefits (Not
Current portion of deferred income (Note '
Current portion of deferred tax (Note

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note :

Plant closure provisions, net of current portiomi@N13)
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current portiiote 7)
Deferred income taxes (Note

Pension liability (Note 6

Other liabilities

Deferred income, net of current portion (Note
Minority interest

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholder’ Equity (Note 16)

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authori
40,000,000 shares, issued 29,554,500 st

Additional paic-in capital

Treasury stock (5,777,417 and 5,749,494 sharessatrespectively

Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive i

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

At December 31

2007 2006
$ 24.: $ 101.¢
94.2 78.:
100. 83.7
12.€ 25.2
19.€ 11.1
132.¢€ 120.
5.C 5.1
256.1 305.:
66.2 66.F
12.7 24.¢
139.1 139.(
41.€ 30.
34.€ —
0.2 1.6
— 1.6
$551.1 $ 569.
$ 50.¢ $ 50.C
65.7 55.E
6. 14.7
20.C 15.1
4.4 5.6
12.€ —
0.1 2.
0.1 —
160.7 142.¢
61.C 133.(
22.4 222
27.4 —
7.3 —
— 22.F
— 22.4
0.8 0.9
— 0.1
0.2 0.1
280.¢ 281.7
(58.2) (44.7)
121.F 97.¢
(72.79) (110.0
271 225.(
$551.1 $ 569.




The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income/(loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to rmethcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{&9)
Deferred income taxe
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant andipqent
Changes in working capite
Accounts receivable and prepaid exper
Inventories
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraagts
Income taxes and other current liabilit
Impairment in carrying value of unconsolidated istveents
Movement on plant closure provisio
Movement on pension asset/(liabilil
Stock option compensation chal
Movements on other n-current liabilities
Movement on deferred incon

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash Flows from Investing Activitie

Capital expenditure

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipmet
Business combinations, net of cash acqu

Acquisition of intangible asset (Note 1

Proceeds from disposal of subsidi

Disposal of unconsolidated investmi

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activi

Cash Flows from Financing Activitie

Net (repayment)/receipt of revolving credit fagil
Receipt of term loa

Repayment of term log

Payments on capital leas

Refinancing cost

Dividends paic

Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraags
Issue of treasury stoc

Repurchase of common sta

Minority interest dividends (paic

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activi
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net change in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of '

Years ended December 3

2007 2006 2005
$ 29.F $ 114 $(123.))
31.2 27.4 28.7
12.1 36.7 134.2
(4.6) (2.0 (5.0)
— 9.2) 2.8
(14.5) (11.2) 15.5
(12.0 (21.0 (20.9)
12.4 (7.4) 6.C
(0.2) — —
(3.5 20.¢ (22.5)
— — 6.6
(1.3 (3.9 2.1
(2.9 (3.0 10.C
3.3 1.6 —
0.1 (2.0 11.2
(2.9 (2.0 (2.1
47.¢ 36.4 43.€
(12.2) (7.6) (8.3
— 6 —
— — (22.9)
(28.4) — —
— — 2.8
— 2.6 —
(40.6) 4.6 (27.9)
(52.0) 18.C 20.2
— — 100.C
(15.0 (10.0 (100.0)
(0.2) (0.2) —
— (0.5) (2.0
(2.2) (1.9 1.7)
0.2 — —
4.1 3.C 1.4
(20.0) (15.6) (2.5)
(0.2) (0.2) —
(85.1) (7.4) 15.5
0.2 (0.6) 4.1
(77.6) 33.C 35.¢
101.¢ 68.¢ 33.¢
$ 24.¢ $101.¢ $ 68.¢

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $1.1 ioill (2006 — $1.1 million) for the year are includadlepreciation and amortization in the

cash flow statement but in interest in the incotagesnent. Cash payments/receipts in respect ofriedaxes and interest are disclosed in Note

7 and Note 14, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbgement:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in millions)
) Accumulated
Additional Retainec Other Total
Common Treasury ] Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Earnings
Stock Capital Stock Loss Equity
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.1 $ 276t $ (319 $ 213.¢ $ (13.9 $ 445.¢
Net loss — — — (123.%) — (123.%)
Dividend ($0.07
per sharejV — — — @.7) — (2.7)
Net CTA changé — — — — (4.€ (4.9
Treasury stock rissued — — 1.7 — — 1.7
Treasury stock repurchas — — (2.5 — — (2.5
Redemption of treasury
stock — (0.3 — — — (0.3
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.1 $ 276.C $ (32.0 $ 884 $ (18.9) $ 314.
Net income — — — 11.4 — 11.4
Dividend ($0.08
per sharejV — — — (2.9 (2.9
Net CTA changé? — — — — 5.C 5.C
Derivatives® — — — — .3 0.3
Treasury stock rissuec — 0.1 2.9 — — 3.C
Treasury stock repurchas — — (15.6) — — (15.¢
Stock option compensatis
charge® — 5.4 — — — 54
Adjustment for initially
applying FAS 15¢ — — — — (138.5) (138.5)
Tax benefit on adjustment
for initially applying
FAS 158 — — — — 41t 41t
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.1 $ 28l.7 $ (44.9) $ 97.¢ $ (110.0 $ 225.(
Net income — — 29.t — 29.t
Dividend ($0.0¢
per sharejV — — — (2.2 — (2.2
Derivatives® — — — — (0.c (0.9
Treasury stock rissued — (0.6) 6.5 — — 5.9
Treasury stock repurchas — — (20.0 — — (20.0
Stock option compensatis
charge — (0.3 — — — (0.3
Two-for-one common
stock split® 0.2 (0.2 — — — —
Cumulative effect of
adoption of FIN 48
(Note 7) — — — 3. — (3.1
Amortization of net
actuarial losses (Note — — — (2.0 2.C —
Tax benefit or
amortization of net
actuarial losse — — — 0.6 (0.6) —
Actuarial net gains arisin
during the year (Note ¢ — — — — 55.C 55.C
Tax benefit on actuarial r
gains arising during th
year — — — (2.0 (15.9) 17.9
Deferred taxe$) — — — 2.8 (2.9 —



Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.3 $ 280.¢ $ (58.2 $ 121F $ (72.7) $ 271.k
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(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bé®irectors had approved -for-1 stock split to be effected in the form ¢
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asubf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werédisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders irezsk one additional option for every
option they held and the original exercise pricesliese options were halved to reflect the stk She table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg

Changes in cumulative translation adjustm

Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivatsteuments, net of ta:

Following adoption of FAS 123R effective Januar 2006 a stock option liability of $3.0 milliatcrued under APB 25 was reclassified
to Additional Pai-In Capital.

Impact on deferred taxes of a change in the adsaociax rate on the unrecognized actuarial neebe$ $138.5 million ($97.0 million n
of deferred taxes) previously recognized in ottenprehensive los:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LO SS)

(in millions)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ead December 3: 2007 2006 2005
Net income/(loss) for the ye $29.5 $11.4  $(123.9)
Changes in cumulative translation adjustrr — 5.C (4.9
Unrealized (losses)/gains on derivative instrumemds of tax (0.9 0.3 —
Amortization of net actuarial losses, net of tax$6f6 million 14 — —
Actuarial net gains arising during the year, neteafof $15.4 millior 39.€ — —
Total comprehensive income/(los $69.€ $16.7  $(128.¢)
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in millions)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended December 3 2007 2006 2005
Cumulative translation adjustme $(13.9 $ (13.9) $(18.4)
Unrealized (losses)/gains on derivative instrumemds of tax (0.5 0.4 0.1
Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax @Baillion and $41.5 million, respective (58.¢) (97.0 —
Accumulated other comprehensive I $(72.7) $(110.0 $(18.3)

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec Inc. develops, manufactures, blends amketsafuel additives and other specialty chemidals. products are
sold primarily to oil refineries and other chemieald industrial companies throughout the world. fDef additives
help improve fuel efficiency, boost engine perfonoa and reduce harmful emissions. Our specialtynatads provide
effective technology-based solutions for our cusishprocesses or products focused in the Per&aral, Household,
Industrial & Institutional; Fragrance Ingredien®astics & Polymers and Pulp & Paper markets. Rral@roduct lines
and reportable segments are Fuel Specialties, &&hemicals and Octane Additives.

See Note 3 for financial information on the Compamgportable segments.
See Note 10 for the accounting in respect of saesmarketing agreements with Ethyl.

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bd®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholda&frsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyeanon that date. The shares were distributed gn20yl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional opt@mrevery option they held and the original exgegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split. Thasolidated financial statements have been pciively adjusted
for this stock split.

Note 2.  Accounting Policies

Basis of PreparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am@m’nd include all subsidiaries of the Company whiee Company
has a controlling financial interest. All signifitaintercompany accounts and balances have beamated upon
consolidation. All acquisitions are accounted feparchases and the results of operations of tpgirad businesses ¢
included in the consolidated financial statemeramfthe date of acquisition. The results of discw@d operations are
shown separately in the income statement. Cenrgaisions have been made to prior year componerdashf flows

from financing activities in the consolidated staémts of cash flows to conform to current yearsifeesmtions. This
change in presentation did not result in a chaogeet cash (used in)/provided by financing acegti

Use of Estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial stetets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am@&rrequires management to make estimates and pissnsithat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateghionl statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ
from those estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Cash Equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three nherir less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Accounts ReceivablThe Company records accounts receivable at nezabé value and maintains an allowance for
customers not making required payments. The Comgatgrmines the adequacy of the allowance by peaty
evaluating each customer receivable consideringastomer’s financial condition, credit history andrent economic
conditions.

Inventories:Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF@hmod) or market price. Cost includes materiatsoia
and an appropriate proportion of plant overheatie. Company accrues volume discounts where it isgirie that the
required volume will be attained and the amountlmamneasonably estimated. The discounts are ret@sla reduction
in the cost of materials based on projected pueshaser the period of the agreement. Provisionadearfor slow-
moving or obsolete inventories as appropriate.

Property, Plant and EquipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefat of the assets using the straight-line metfioe. cost of
additions and improvements are capitalized. Magntee and repairs are charged to expenses. Whenr asssold or
retired the associated cost and accumulated degicectis removed from the consolidated financiateshents and any
related gain or loss is included in earnings. T¢tereated useful lives of the major classes of deplde assets are as
follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 year:
Equipment 3to 10 year:

Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetSoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to hal&finite lives are no
longer amortized but are subject to at least aninyadirment tests. Other intangible assets contiauee amortized
using the straight-line method over their estimatseful lives. The annual measurement date for immgent testing of
Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals goodwill scBmber 31. Octane Additives business goodwitvsewed for
impairment at the end of each quarter. The Compegwlarly reviews goodwill and the other intangibsets for
impairment based on projected post-tax cash flassdnted at the Company’s weighted average castpfal. As
expected the decline in the Octane Additives mamkstresulted in quarterly impairment charges beiogrred from
the first quarter of 2004 onwards. It is highlydik that further quarterly charges will be incurieduture years as the
market continues to decline. The impairment reviefuhie goodwill relating to the Fuel SpecialtiesladActive
Chemicals businesses indicates that there is norezgent to recognize an impairment charge in retspiethis
goodwill.

Deferred Finance CostThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the balance sheets
and amortized using the effective interest methaat the expected life of the debt financing fagilit
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

| mpairment of Long-Lived Asselthe Company reviews the carrying value of its ldinge assets, including buildings
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstangggestthat the carrying values may be impairedrdier to
facilitate this test the Company groups togetheetsat the lowest possible level for which cast finformation is
available. Undiscounted future cash flows expetde@sult from the assets are compared with theyiogrvalue of the
assets and if they are lower an impairment loss lbeaecognized. The amount of the impairment leske difference
between the fair value and the carrying value efdbsets. Fair values are determined using posiatxflows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average dastptal.

Derivative Financial InstrumentsThe Company uses various derivative instrumentsidireg forward currency
contracts, options, interest rate swaps and contgnediaps to manage certain exposures. These institgrare entered
into under the Company’s corporate risk manageipelity to minimize exposure and are not for spetbedatrading
purposes. FAS 133 ccounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities, establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments and, requhrasan entity recognize all derivatives as eitsyets or liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheet and measure trsisgnients at fair value. Changes in the fair valugerivatives that
are not designated as hedges, or do not meetdbagements for hedge accounting under FAS 133resr@gnized in
earnings. Derivatives are tested for effectivermesa quarterly basis. The ineffective portion @ tierivative’s change
in value is recognized in earnings. The effectigdipn is recognized in other comprehensive logs tire hedged item
is recognized in earnings. The Company employséasteate swaps which convert floating rate det$s®0 million o
the remaining $75.0 million senior term loan tcefixrate. These have been designated as cash fimedef the
underlying variable rate obligation. These havenltested for effectiveness using the dollar offsethod. At the end
the term of the swap arrangements the cumulatiireagdoss will be reclassified to the income sta¢at. The interest
rate swaps have been recorded as a non-curreitityiabthe balance sheet. In 2007 the Companygeedhe price of
450 metric tonnes of one of its key raw materiaisig commodity swaps. These swaps have maturigsdagtween 1
and 12 months and as at December 31 2007 the maalket of the swaps to the Company was a loss .6f isdlion.
These swaps have been designated as qualifyirfigeflge accounting. At the end of the swap arrangentiea
cumulative gain or loss will be reclassified to theome statement. These commodity swaps havereeerded as a
non-current liability in the balance sheet.

Environmental Compliance and RemediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing heaiance,
monitoring and similar costs. Environmental cosesaccrued when environmental assessments or rehedidirts are
probable and the cost can be reasonably estinfatmeth. accruals are adjusted as further informateweldps or
circumstances change. Costs of future obligatioeslscounted to their present values using thegaoyi's weighted
average cost of capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Revenue RecognitioThe Company supplies products to customers fromaii®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer sitedga variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mrdi. In each cas
revenue is recognized when the transfer of lefal vhich is defined and generally accepted instia@dard terms and
conditions, arises between the Company and themst Provisions for sales discounts and rebategstomers are
based upon the terms of sales contracts and avadegtin the same period as the related salesieduaction from
revenue. The Company estimates the provision fessiscounts and rebates based on the terms lofagaeement at
the time of shipping. The Company recognized th& tevenue from Octane Additive sales under thg/lEtgreement
The 32% compensation which was paid to Ethyl waegeized in cost of goods sold. A component of Edtshare of
net proceeds was an amount recoverable from BihyMas calculated annually in arrears. The Comparygnized
this quarterly based on best current estimatelseoékpected outcome. See Note 10 for the accouintiregpect of sale
and marketing agreements with Ethyl.

Components of Net Salesli amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCihyapany are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of Cost of Goods Sdlaist of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcosluding inbound freight,
duty and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handlisgscassociated with the receipt of raw materiaskpging
materials, manufacturing costs including labor gostaintenance and utility costs, plant and enging®verheads,
warehousing and outbound shipping costs and handbsts. Inventory losses and provisions and teesad customer
claims are also recognized in the cost of goodsitem. The 32% compensation which was paid to IEtlag
recognized in cost of goods sold (see Note 10eccounting in respect of sales and marketingesgents with
Ethyl).

Components of Selling, General and AdministratixpefsesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the diedess
force and the sales management and customer sdepagtments required to support them. It also cmap
commission charges, the costs of sales conferemmkgade shows, the cost of advertising and prom®and the cost
of bad and doubtful debts. General and adminisgakpenses comprise the cost of support functrarsding
accounting, human resources, information technodgl/the cost of group functions including corperaanagement,
finance, tax, treasury, investor relations andlldgpartments. Provision of management’s best estirof legal costs
for litigation in which the Company is involvednsade and reported in the administrative expengeitém.

Research and Development ExpenResearch, development and testing costs are expemtige income statement as
incurred.

Earnings Per ShareBasic earnings per share is based on the weightgdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share ibetuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Foreign CurrenciesThe Company’s policy is that exchange differengesray on the translation of the balance sheets
of entities that have functional currencies otlhantthe U.S. dollar are taken to a separate emgsgrve, the cumulatiy
translation adjustment. In entities where the dd@ar is the functional currency no gains or I@ssa translation occL

In these entities gains or losses on monetarysassiating to currencies other than the U.S. daltartaken to the
income statement. Gains or losses on foreign coyregansactions are included in other net incomp&ase) in the
income statement and were $7.5 million net gairg $7llion net gain and $3.7 million net loss in0Z0 2006 and 200
respectively.

Stock Option Plan€Effective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted iegons of FAS 123RShare-Based
Paymentwhich requires employee stock options to be acealfdr under the fair value method. Accordinglyrgha
based compensation is now measured at the granbdaéd on the fair value of the options. Priclatouary 1, 2006 ti
Company accounted for employee stock options usiagntrinsic value method prescribed by Accountminciples
Board Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ€@$°B 25”), and related interpretations, and preadd
the required pro forma disclosures prescribed b$ E&3,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatamg FAS 148,
Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosusader APB 25, for fixed awards, when the
exercise price of employee stock options was efguidle market price of the underlying stock ondage of the grant,
no compensation expense was recorded. The Compapyeal FAS 123R using the modified prospectivesitaom
method. Under this method the compensation cosgrezed by the Company beginning in 2006 includes

(a) compensation cost for all stock options graptear to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 20@6ed on the grant-
date fair value estimated in accordance with thgireal provisions of FAS 123, and (b) compensatiost for all stock
options granted subsequent to January 1, 2006d lmasthe grant-date fair value estimated in acaurdavith the
provisions of FAS 123R. The Company uses the sttdige attribution method to recognize share-basedpensation
costs over the service period of the option.

Pension Plans and Other P-Employment Benefit&ffective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adoptedprovision
of FAS 158 Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensiod ®&ther Postretirement Plan$AS 158 requires
that the funded status of defined-benefit poseeatant plans be recognized on the Company’s comgetidbalance
sheets, and changes in the funded status be szflactomprehensive income. FAS 158 also requiresiteasurement
date of the plan’s funded status to be the sanigeaSompany’s fiscal year-end. Although the measerd date
provision was not required to be adopted untildigear 2008 the Company early-adopted this pronigor fiscal year
2006. Pension plans are accounted for in accordaithd=AS 87 Employers’ Accounting for PensionsAS 158,
Employer’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and OtRestretirement Planand FAS 88Employers’
Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of i@efiBenefit Pension Plans and for Termination Besn.
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Income Taxe<The Company provides for income taxes in accordaniteFAS 109 Accounting for Income Taxes
FAS 109 requires the recognition of deferred tesetssand liabilities for the expected future tarsemuences of
temporary differences between the financial stateéro@rrying amounts and the relevant tax baseseod$sets and
liabilities. When appropriate, in accordance with§~109, the Company evaluates the need for a vatuatiowance to
reduce deferred tax assets. FAS 109 requires togméion of future tax benefits to the extent treslization of such
benefits is more likely than not. The effect onedlefd taxes of a change in tax rates is recogmizéte period that
includes the enactment date. In July 2006, the F&S&ed Interpretation No 48ccounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes(“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threkhand measurement attribute for the financialestent
recognition and measurement of a tax position takezxpected to be taken in a tax return. Incometsitions must
meet a more likely than not recognition criteridheg adoption date to be recognized upon the aglopfiFIN 48. The
Company adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007 andrthegmons have been applied to all income tax pwsstfrom that
date. On adoption of FIN 48 the Company recognaethcrease in its liability for unrecognized teenkfits of $3.1
million which was accounted for as an adjustmergening retained earnings; and reclassificatidri&2a.0 million
from other liabilities, $3.8 million from deferrédcome taxes and $7.8 million from accrued incoax@s. The
Company recognizes accrued interest and penafiseximted with uncertain tax positions as parhobme taxes in our
consolidated statements of income.
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Note 3. Business Segment and Geographical ArBata

Innospec divides its business into three distieghgents for both management and reporting purpéses:Specialties,
Active Chemicals (previously Performance Chemiealgxplained below) and Octane Additives. The Bpelcialties
and Active Chemicals businesses both operate iketsawhere we actively seek growth opportunitiéeiitheir end
customers are very different. The Octane Additivesiness, although still profitable, is charactliby substantial
declining demand.

On October 1, 2007 the Company announced a fustheamlining of its fast-growing Performance Chatsdivision
into a unified, sales-led global business focusedapidly meeting customers’ needs anywhere iretiggographical
regions and five core industry sectors. This letheosegment being re-branded under the bannen&&hemicals.”
The five core industry sectors are Personal Capeisehold, Industrial & Institutional; Fragrance redients; Plastics
Polymers and Pulp & Paper markets.

In 2007 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $66.2 milli (11%) of net sales. In 2006 and 2005 no sings&otner accounted
for more than 10% of net sales.
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The following table analyzes sales and other firdnicformation by business segment:

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $374.¢ $311.c $ 257.1
Active Chemicals 133.¢ 120.4 109.4
Octane Additive: 94.C 100.4 198.:

$602.4 $532.1 $ 564.¢

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $124.7 $106.- $ 83t
Active Chemicals 24.¢ 22.7 17.€
Octane Additive: 48.1 57.€ 99.(C

$197 .4 $186.7 $ 200.1

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $ 63.€ $ 45.7 $ 26.2
Active Chemicals 6.1 5.8 1.C
Octane Additive: 19.€ 34.5 69.2
FAS 158/87 pension char: (4.6 — 2.7
Corporate cost (22.0) (22.1) (26.7)
Restructuring charg (3.0 (4.5 (31.9)
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (12.7) (36.7) (134.9)
Profit on disposals (ne — 9.2 —
Operating income/(los: $ 47.¢ $ 31.C $ (97.7)
Identifiable assets at year end

Fuel Specialtie $216.7 $221.¢

Active Chemicals 124.% 121.(

Octane Additive: 206.¢ 224.;

Corporate 3.4 2.C

$551.1 $569.(

The Company includes within the corporate coses iiem the costs of:
* managing the Group as a company with securitigsdlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S

» the President/CEQ’s office, group finance, groumhno resources, corporate secretary, legal feesaastor
relations;

* running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear

» the corporate development function since they daelate to the current trading activities of otlner busines
segments; an
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» the corporate share of the information technoleaggounting and human resources departm

Sales by geographic area are reported by sourceréwthe transaction originates) and by destingtidrere the final
sale to customers is made). Intercompany salgsriemed to recover cost plus an appropriate marksuprofit and are
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements

Identifiable assets are those directly associatdutive operations of the geographical area.
Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicaltioa on the grounds that it would be impracticdbldo so.
64



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

(in millions)

Net sales by source
United State:
United Kingdom
Rest of Europ:
Other

Sales between are

Net sales by destination
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europ:

Other

Income/(loss) before income taxe:

United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europ:

Other

Impairment of Octane Additives business good

Long-lived assets at year enc
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europ:

Goodwill

Identifiable assets at year end
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europ:

Other

Goodwill

65

2007 2006
$192.¢  $167.1
333.¢ 307.¢
154.¢ 144.¢
0.4 2.1
(79.0 (89.6)
$602.2  $532.1
$210.¢  $173.]
25.1 22.¢
205.1 189.(
161.° 146.¢€
$602.2  $532.1
$221 $38¢
25.7 13.7
13.2 17.2
(1.3) (1.9)
(12.1) (36.7)
$477  $ 31¢
$21.4 $ 237
100.( 56.¢
21.¢ 19.2
151.¢ 163.¢
$295.C  $263.]
$ 821  $102.]
227. 216.
89.2 84.7
0.5 1.6
151.¢ 163.¢
$551.1  $569.C

2005

$ 135.
285
223.:

17.2
(96.7)

$ 564.¢

$ 126.¢
24.2
172.5
241.(

$ 564.¢

$ 924
51.€
(126.])
(1.€)
(134.9)

$(118.7)
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Note 4.  Stock Option Plans

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bé®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholda&frsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyeanon that date. The shares were distributed gn20yl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional optarevery option they held and the original exgegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split.

The Company has five active stock option plangetaf which provide for grants of options to keypdogees and non-
employee directors. One other plan provides st@tions on an equal basis to all United Kingdom eyeés, and
another provides stock options to all Company egg#s. The current limit for the number of sharesashmon stock
which can be issued or awarded under the plan®&®00. The stock options issued have a vesengg of three to
six years and expire within ten years of the dagrant. All grants are at the sole discretionhedf Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors which administéhe plans. Grants may be priced at market @@ a premium
or discount.

On January 1, 2006 the Company adopted FAS 13BRre-Based PaymenEAS 123R requires a company to estir
the number of forfeitures expected to occur andnetexpense based upon the number of awards expectest. Prior
to adoption, the Company accounted for forfeit@®shey occurred as permitted under previous aticgustandards.
The cumulative effect of adopting the change imeing forfeitures was not material to the Compariyancial
statements for year ended December 31, 2006.

The fair value of these options is calculated usimgBlack-Scholes model. In some cases certafonpeance related
options are dependent upon external factors sutteaSompany’s share price. The fair value of tlogs@ns is
calculated using a Monte Carlo model.

The following assumptions were used to determiedair value of options calculated using the Bl&t#toles model:

2007 2006 2005
Dividend yield 0.2% 0.4% 0.4%
Expected life 4 year: 4 year: 4 year:
Volatility 48.%% 43.5% 43.(%
Risk free interest rai 4.47% 4.2€% 4.2€%
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The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the three yeaded

December 31, 2007:

Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Average Fair
Exercise Price
Shares Value
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 2,010,55 $ 5.14
Granted - at discoun 282,79« $ 5.7¢ $ 4.82
— at market valu 188,12( $ 9.8¢ $ 5.2¢
Exercisec (261,40 $ 4.51
Forfeitures (105,016 $ 2.2¢
Expired (198,95) $ 2.7z
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,916,09 $ 5.0¢
Granted - at discoun 162,16« $ — $ 7.37
— at market valu 55,24 $ 10.51 $ 3.92
Exercisec (384,33 $ 6.37
Forfeitures (85,019 $ 2.7¢
Expired (50,77¢) $ 6.2¢€
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,613,37. $ 4.4¢
Granted - at discoun 387,23t $ — $ 26.4¢
— at market valut 28,36¢ $ 27.0¢ $ 10.9¢
Exercisec (783,63) $ 5.0:
Forfeitures (130,269 $ 0.1t
Expired (10,179 $ 7.61
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,104,89: $ 3.5¢€
The following table summarizes information abouti@ps outstanding at December 31, 2007:
Number Weighted
Number _ Weighted Exercisable a Weighted Average
Outstanding at Weighted Remaining
Average Average December 31 Average
Range of Exercise December 31, Remaining Life Exercise Exercise Life in
Price 2007 Price 2007 Price Years
$0-$5 717,42. 6.6¢ $ 0.2 113,50( $ 1.51 4.2
$5-$10 353,20t 5.2¢ $ 8.2¢ 121,62( $ 7.17 2.4¢
$1C-$15 5,90( 6.37 $ 11.5( 5,90( $ 11.5C 6.37
$2E-330 28,36¢ 9.1t $ 27.0¢ — $ — —
1,104,809 241,02(

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested stopkions is $0.6 million. Of the 241,020 stock ops that are
exercisable, 67,442 have performance conditiomslaid. The total compensation cost for 2007 ané 226 $3.3
million and $1.6 million, respectively. The totalmpensation cost related to nonvested stock optiohget recognize
at December 31, 2007 is $7.8 million and this t®sipected to be recognized over the weiglaestage period of 1.!

years.
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We have not modified any stock option awards in2@D06 or 2005. The total intrinsic value of opsexercised in
2007 and 2006 was $1.9 million and $0.9 milliorspectively. The amount of cash received from ther@se of stock
option awards in 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $4.1anill$3.0 million and $1.4 million, respectively.&&ompany’s
policy is to issue shares from Treasury stock fddms of stock options who exercise those optibuging 2007 and
2006 the new total fair value of shares vested$2a2 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

The Company adopted FAS 123R using the modifiedg#ative transition method beginning January 16200e
Company previously recorded a charge for stockooptbased on the intrinsic value method presciiyeiccounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued to Employ€éd$’B 25”). The following table
summarizes the effect on net income and earningshage for the year ended December 31, 2005 iCthrapany had
adopted FAS 123R. As of January 1, 2006 compemsatipense has been recorded within the consolidiataakcial
statements and calculated consistently with thénatkprescribed in FAS 123R:

Net income Diluted

(in millions, except per share data Basic
2005
As disclosec $ (123.7) $(5.00 $(5.00)
Compensation expense, net of tax, included inneme 0.€
Compensation expense, net of tax, that would haea included had FAS

123 been adopte (1.5
Proforma net incom $ (124.) $(5.09) $(5.09)

Note 5. Earnings Per Share

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bé®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholdafrsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyealon that date. The shares were distributed gn2yl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional optarevery option they held and the original exgegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split. Tdiwing footnote has been retrospectively adjddor this stock
split.
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Basic earnings per share is based on the weightsdge number of common shares outstanding dunmgériod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectpbibas that are dilutive and outstanding duringgbeod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Numerator (in millions):

Income/(loss) from continuing operatic $ 29.t $ 114 $(122.9)

Discontinued operations, net of t — — (1.9

Net income/(loss) available to common stockhol $ 29.t $ 114 $(123.79)
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 23,92( 24,14 24,73,

Dilutive effect of stock options and awat 91¢ 1,19¢ —

Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 24,83¢ 25,33¢ 24,73,
Net income per share

Income/(loss) from continuing operatic $ 1.2t $ 0.47 $ (4.99

Discontinued operations, net of t — — (0.0¢)

Net income/(loss) available to common sh $ 1.2t $ 0.47 $ (5.00
Net income per share, diluted

Income/(loss) from continuing operatic $ 1.¢ $ 0.4t $ (4.99

Discontinued operations, net of t — — (0.0¢)

Net income/(loss) available to common sh $ 1.1¢ $ 0.4t $ (5.00

In 2007, 2006 and 2005 the average number of @atiséd options excluded from the calculation olutied earnings
per share were 17,729, 4,125 and 127,718, resp8ctiv

Note 6. Pension Plans

The Company maintains a contributory defined bempeinsion plan covering a number of its United Kiogn
employees (the “Plan”). The Projected Benefit Cdtiign (“PBO”) is based on final salary and yearsrefdited service
reduced by social security benefits according ptaa formula. Normal retirement age is 65 but pseons are made for
early retirement.

The Company is contributing amounts to the Placotcer service costs to date. Employee and employ@ributions
from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2007 were aabda22.6%, respectively, of pensionable pay. Franudry 1, 2007
employee and employer contributions were at 7%289d, respectively. In addition, since March 200i&, Company
has been contributing $3 million per calendar yeaccordance with a 10 year deficit recovery plEme Plan’s assets
are invested by two investment management companfeads holding United Kingdom and overseas eggiitUnited
Kingdom and overseas fixed interest securitiegxrthked securities, property unit trusts and aasbash equivalents.
A full actuarial valuation of the Plan was perfoaras at December 31, 2005 and an update performat a
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the results of botthath are reflected in the calculations below.
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Effective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adogtexiprovisions of FAS 15&mployers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Pl. FAS 158 requires that the funded status of ddfipenefit
postretirement plans be recognized on the Companayisolidated balance sheets, and certain changles funded
status be reflected in comprehensive income. FASal$0 requires the measurement date of the Fiamdgd status to
be the same as the Company’s fiscal year-end. Adthahe measurement date provision was not reqtorbd adopted
until fiscal year 2008 the Company early-adoptesl pinovision for fiscal year 2006. The effect opspng FAS 158
was to record a total reduction to equity througtognition in other comprehensive loss of $97.0ionilon an aftetax

basis.

The Company had previously used a measuremenbti@tetober 5. Accordingly, accounting and disclestar the
Plan had been as at and for the 12 months enditah€rc5. In accordance with FAS 158 the net pensiange of $1.5
million for the transition period of three montlws@ecember 31, 2006 has been included in theredaiction to equity
of $97.0 million and disclosures for 2005 and 26@x4e not been modified from those previously regubrt

(in millions)

Plan net pension charg:

Service cos

Interest cost on PB

Expected return on plan ass

Amortization of net actuarial
losses

Plan assumptions

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensatit
levels

Rate of return on plan assets —
overall

Rate of return on plan assets —
equity securitie:

Rate of return on plan assets —
debt securitie

Plan asset allocation by categol
Equity securitiet

Debt securitie:

Other

12 months tc
December 3.

2007

$ 5.4
45.7

(48.5)

2.

$ 4.€

5.8(%
3.95%
5.45%
7.5(%

4.6(%

28%
71%

10(%

70

3 months to
December 3:

2006

$ 1.3
10.5
(11.2)

5.1(%
3.5%
5.2%
7.6(%

4.6(%

32%
67%
1%

10C%

12 months tc

October 5
2006

$ 5.C
39.7
(44.7)

5.0(%

3.5%

5.3(%

8.5(%

4.6(%

28%
70%
1%

10(%

12 months tc

October 5
2005

$ 6.C
39.¢

(45.%)

1.1

$ 1.7

5.0(%

3.6(%

5.3(%

9.0(%

5.1(%

32%
67%
1%

10C%
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The discount rate used represents the annualieédi gm medium and longer term AA rated corporatedsdn the
United Kingdom and has been determined by referemtige iBoxx corporate bond index published bytnational
Index Company. The rate of increase in compens#iagls assumes that real salary growth in Innospkkbe
restricted to 0.75% above an assumed level of jpritaion of 3.2%. A 0.25% change in either theatiunt rate
assumption, or level of price inflation assumptimould change the PBO by approximately $30 milko the net
pension charge for 2008 by approximately $0.2 omilli

The current investment strategy of the Plan idaimio an asset allocation of 70% in favor of defzisities and 30%
equity securities in order to achieve a more ptablie return on assets.

The projected net pension charge for the year gndecember 31, 2008 is as follows:

(in millions)

Service cos $ 5.€
Interest cost on PB! 48.¢
Expected return on plan ass (52.0

$ 24

The estimated level of Company contributions it Plan for 2008 is $8.9 million. The following ledih payments,
which reflect expected future service as appropriate expected to be made:

(in millions)

2008 $ 52.1
2009 $ 53.7
2010 $ 55.¢
2011 $ 57.2
2012 $ 59.C
2013-2017 $324.(

Company contributions to defined contribution scherduring 2007 were $0.9 million (2006 — $1.7 roi).
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetaaifellows:

12 months tc

3 months to 12 months tc
December 3: December 3:
October 5
(in millions) 2007 2006 2006
Change in PBC(
Opening balanc $ 897.¢ $ 909.t $ 725.
Interest cos 45.7 10.5 39.7
Service cos 5.4 1.3 5.C
Contributions by participan 1.C 0.2 0.7
Benefits paic (51.]) (11.2) (43.5)
Actuarial (gains)/losse (58.5) (11.¢) 38.7
Exchange effec 13.€ (0.9 143.7
Closing balanct 854.: 897.¢ 909.t
Fair value of plan asse
Opening balanc 875.¢ 872.¢ 710.7
Actual benefits pait (51.]) (11.2) (43.5)
Actual contributions by employs 7.€ 0.7 4.4
Actual contributions by participan 1.C 0.2 0.7
Actual return on asse 43.1 12.7 56.2
Exchange effec 13.1 0.1 144.¢
Closing balanct 889.] 875.4 872.¢
Plan assets excess/(deficit) over P 34.¢ (22.5) (36.€)
Unrecognized net los 83.t 138.t 179.¢
Amortization of net actuarial loss (2.0 — —
Amount recognized in other comprehensive (81.5) (138.5) —
Pension asset/(liability $ 34.¢ $ (22.5) $ 143«

The underlying PBO and fair value of Plan assetsdanominated in sterling and were previously teded at historic
exchange rates. On adoption of FAS 158 at DeceBihe2006, the underlying PBO and fair value of Rlasets were
translated at the 2006 year end exchange rateeé¢mber 31, 2007, the underlying PBO and fair vafu@lan assets

were translated at the 2007 year end exchange rate.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan $826.3 million and $871.7 million at December 3207 and 2006,

respectively.

Note 7. Income Taxes

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Imton No 48Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

(“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threkhand measurement attribute for the financialestant recognition
and measurement of a tax position taken or expdotbd taken in a tax return.
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On adoption of FIN 48 the Company recognized areimge in its liability for unrecognized tax bergebf $3.1 million
which was accounted for as an adjustment to opaeitained earnings; and reclassifications of $2illon from othel
liabilities, $3.8 million from deferred income taxand $7.8 million from accrued income taxes. Afaiward of
unrecognized tax benefits and associated accrieckst and penalties is as follows:

Interest and Unrecognizec

(in millions) penalties tax benefits Total

Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 2.2 $ 33.4 $ 35.7
Additions related to tax positions taken in therent perioc — 1.t 1.t
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 1.4 1.C 2.4
Exchange effec 0.1 1.7 1.€
Settlement: — (1.9 (2.4
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 3.8 36.2 40.C
Current 1.7 (10.9) (12.€)
Non-current $ 2.1 $ 25.2 $27.4

All of the $40.0 million of unrecognized tax berngfivould impact our effective tax rate if recognize

We recognize accrued interest and penalties asedarath uncertain tax positions as part of incamees in our
consolidated statements of income. As of DecembgP@07, $3.8 million was accrued within the liékifor
unrecognized tax benefits in respect of accruestaist and penalties.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, aadious state and
foreign jurisdictions. As at December 31, 2007, @wmpany’s subsidiaries in France and the Unitegylom are
subject to tax authority investigations into theispective transfer pricing policies. The Compaogsinot anticipate
that adjustments arising out of these investigatiwauld result in a material change to its finahp@sition as at
December 31, 2007.

The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries remain opexamination by the IRS for years 1998 onwardstduke net
operating losses in the period 1998 to 2002, aijhaw examination is currently underway. The Comgfgan
subsidiaries in other major tax jurisdictions apem to examination including France (2004 onwar@gymany (2002
onwards), Switzerland (2005 onwards) and the Uriegdom (2002 onwards). We are currently undemn@ration in
various foreign jurisdictions.
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The sources of income/(loss) before income taxes ag follows:

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Domestic $22.2 $20.2 $ 1.7
Foreign 25.5 11.¢ (119.9

$47.7  $31.6  $(118.)

The components of income tax charges are summaaizéallows:

(in millions) 2007 2006 2005

Current:

Federa $16.¢ $ 5.¢€ $0.2

Foreign 7.7 15.5 (1.9
$24.¢ $21.4 $(1.€)

Deferred:

Federa $(6.4) $0.E $—

Foreign — (1.5 5.8

(6.4) (2.0 5.8

$18.2 $20.4 $4.2

Cash payments/(receipts) for income taxes were7&Rlion, $(0.7) million and $21.4 million during007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéolbe

2007 2006 2005
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign tax rate differenti (4.6 (5.0 8.4
Amortization — (0.9 —
Foreign tax credi (73.9) (29.5) —
Dividend inclusior 80.C 47.1 —
Impairment of Octane Additives business good 8.¢ 40.4 (39.9
Unrecognized net operating los: (2.1 (31.¢) 2.€
Tax (credit)/charge from previous ye: (14.€) 4.2 3.C
Discontinued operatior — — (0.6
Investment writ-off — — (3.9
Other (net, 9.t 4.C (8.2

3829 64.2%  (3.5%
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The $12.1 million charge in respect of the impaimingf Octane Additives business goodwill has ndhaastaxation
impact and represents a significant factor in tueation from the U.S. federal statutory rate. @#ignificant factors
affecting the variation to the statutory rate de@med liquidation of a group subsidiary, treated dividend under U.
tax rules, net of foreign tax credits, the useagflbsses for which no deferred tax asset had tEgnized and tax
credits from prior years. The mix of taxable pefienerated in the different geographical localitrewhich the Group
operates had a positive impact on the effectiveagxin 2007.

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesam¢ollows:

(in millions) 2007 2006
Deferred tax assets
Excess of tax over book basis in property, pladit@uipmen $ 3.8 $ 3.2
Net operating loss carry forwar 3.€ 1.8
Pension liability — 6.8
Goodwill amortizatior 2.€ —
Foreign tax credit 6.5 —
Other 4.2 2.7
21.C 14.€
Valuation allowanct (8.9 (2.0
Total deferred tax asse 12.2 13.€

Deferred tax liabilities:

Pension asst (9.7) —
Intangible assel (5.9 (6.9
Other 4.0) (5.2
(19.6) (12.0)
Total net deferred (liability)/ass $ (7.9 $ 1€

As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2007, the Gonuoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceggquired for $1.3 million (2006 - $0.8 million) @§ net operating
loss carry forwards and that a full valuation aldmee is required against its foreign tax creditsyclrwards. The net
operating loss carry forwards arose in 2007 ane\generated in Switzerland as a result of excegitiosses on a
contract. It is expected that sufficient taxablefips will be generated against which the net opegdoss carry
forwards can be relieved and there is no time &tioh to use these losses. Should it be determiméek future that it i
no longer more likely than not that these assédtdweirealized an additional valuation allowanceuwdadbe required and
the Company’s operating results would be advera#gcted during the period in which such a deteatiam would be
made.

The Company has not made provision for unremiteadiags from overseas subsidiaries on the grouratghey will
not be remitted as they are required in the estd@cerned or will continue to be used to funthierrinvestment into
other territories. The amount of unremitted
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earnings at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was appatedyr5805 million and $710 million, respectiveny
determination of the potential amount of unrecogdideferred taxes is not practicable due to theptmdties
associated with its hypothetical calculation.

Note 8. Acquisitions

On January 14, 2005, the Company acquired a 10@¥est in Finetex, Inc. (“Finetex”) for consideatiof $21.2
million. The Company purchased 234 common shareéshwiere valued at $17.4 million. The balance ef fimds was
used to separately acquire the two properties aohathe business operates and to pay costs oftthésation.

Finetex is a manufacturer and supplier of specmltyactants and emollients to the personal caxemetics and other
industrial markets. The results of Finetex havenbmmnsolidated since the acquisition date and baea reported in tt
Active Chemicals business segment. In 2005, siscaciquisition by the Company, Finetex contribui&8é.4 million of
net sales and a net profit of $0.2 million to tlh@solidated net loss ($0.01 profit per basic sh@ajing the third
guarter of 2005 the inventory standard costing @ss@t Finetex was updated. This led to an increfa®@.5 million in
the fair value of inventory acquired and a corresidag reduction in goodwill. The following valueave been assigni
to the major classes of assets and liabilitiebiénltalance sheets of the acquired entities at sitiquidate:

(in millions)

Cash $ 0.2
Receivable: 2.2
Inventories 4.C
Prepayment 0.1
Property, plant and equipme T
Goodwill 3.€
Intangible assetl 7.1
Total asset 24.€
Current liabilities (0.9
Deferred taxe (2.9
Other nol-current liabilities (0.2
Total liabilities (3.9
Net assets acquire $21.2

The goodwill recognized in respect of Finetex hasrbincluded within the Active Chemicals businegmsent (see
Note 9).

The following intangible assets were recognizecespect of Finetex.

Useful Life
(in millions)
Customer relationshig $4.2 13 year
Patent: 2.€ 10 year
Total asset $7.1
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Effective January 1, 2007 the businesses of Finétexand ProChem Chemicals, Inc. were mergedimtospec

Active Chemicals LLC (previously known as Innospsformance Chemicals U.S. Co.).

Note 9. Goodwill
Goodwill comprises the following:

Fuel Active Octane
Specialtie: Chemicals Additives
(in millions) Total
Gross cos- at January 1, 20C $ 117 $ 304 $ 351.( $ 498.k
Exchange effec 0.1 — — 0.1
Impairment — — (36.7) (36.7)
Gross cos- at December 31, 20( 117.2 30.4 314.: 461.¢
Amortization—- at January 1 and December 31, 2 (8.9 (0.3 (289.5) (298.))

Net book amour- at December 31, 20( $ 108.¢ $ 30.1 $ 24¢ $ 163.¢

Gross cos- at January 1, 20C 117.2 30.4 314.c 461.¢
Exchange effec 0.1 — — 0.1
Impairment — — (12.7) (22.1)
Gross cos- at December 31, 20( 117.< 30.4 302.2 449.¢
Amortization— at January 1 and December 31, 2 (8.9 (0.3 (289.5) (298.))

$ 109.( $ 301 $ 127 $ 151.¢

Net book amour— at December 31, 20(

The Company’s reporting units are generally coasistvith the operating segments underlying the segsnidentified
in Note 3.

The Company adopted FAS 142podwill and Other Intangible Asseteffective January 1, 2002. This requires that
goodwill deemed to have an indefinite life shoutdlonger be amortized, but subject to an annuadimgent review,
or between years if events occur or circumstanbaage which suggest that an impairment may havercaxt.

Due to the continuing decline in the world marlat®ctane Additives, goodwill in respect of the &t Additives
business segment is reviewed for impairment onaateuy basis.

The Company has elected to perform its annual testspect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemsicalodwill as of
December 31 each year.

In reviewing for any impairment charge the fairunabf the impaired reporting units underlying tegraents is
estimated using an after tax cash flow methodolmged on management’s best estimates at that time.
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As a result of the Octane Additives impairment egs performed during 2007, 2006 and 2005 impairrokatges of
$12.1 million, $36.7 million and $134.4 million,geectively, were recognized. These charges areasinin nature
and have no impact on taxation. There is $12.74anilbf goodwill remaining which relates to the Q@aAdditives
business. Given the quantum and predictabilitthefremaining future cash flows from the Octane Adels business
the Company expects goodwill impairment chargdsetoecognized in the income statement on an appadgi straight-
line basis over the three years ending Decembe2@I).

At the end of the fourth quarter of 2007 the Conypa@rformed its annual impairment review for godtifar Fuel
Specialties and Active Chemicals and believesttieae has been no impairment of goodwill in respéthose
reporting segments.

Note 10. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2007 2006
Gross cos
— Ethyl $ 28.4 $ —
— Veritel 60.¢€ 60.¢€
— Technology 7.1 7.1
— Customer relationshig 16.C 16.C
— Patents 2.6 2.6
— Other 0.2 0.2
115.2 86.€
Accumulated amortizatio
— Ethyl 4.2 —
— Veritel (60.€) (50.6)
— Technology (2.5 (1.7
— Customer relationshig (5.0 (3.6
— Patent: (0.9 (0.6
— Other (0.2 (0.2
(73.9 (56.7)
$ 41.€ $30.2

Ethyl

On October 1, 1998, Innospec entered into salesramileting agreements (“TMAs”) with Ethyl Corporati(“Ethyl”)
to market and sell tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”) in alleas of the world except North America and theogeian Economic
Area for the period lasting until December 31, 2C8hject to renewal thereafter. This relationsigs extended
effective January 1, 2000 when two of our Swisssgliliries entered into similar TMAs with Ethyl's
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Swiss subsidiaries. In April 2000, Ethyl made arpayt to Innospec of $38.6 million as a prepaymensérvices to be
provided under the Swiss TMAs. Effective July 1020another of our Swiss subsidiaries entereddanfMA with
Veritel Chemicals BV (“Veritel”) and Ethyl agreed participate in this TMA with the scope of all thMAs being
extended to include the European Economic Area.

No separate legal entity or joint venture was distiadd as a consequence of the TMAs. All markeging sales effo
made under these arrangements were made in theafdmmespec. Innospec produced all TEL marketedkuthe
TMASs and also provided marketing and other serviEgéisyl provided bulk distribution services, maikgtand other
services. In addition, Ethyl was required to hgdpr@ximately one third of the inventories sold unttese
arrangements or deposit an equivalent dollar amwithtinnospec. At March 31, 2007, Ethyl held noLTiBventories
in respect of the TMAs and accordingly had depds&2.0 million with us. The net proceeds underfihBAs were
paid to Innospec and Ethyl as compensation forices\and based on an agreed-upon formwigh Innospec receiving
68% of the total compensation for services provided Ethyl receiving 32%. Ethyl's 32% share of ie¢ proceeds
was advanced to Ethyl by us when payment was reddrom the TMA customers.

Sales and expenses incurred under the TMAs weladied within Innospec’s income statement. Theseprmad all
revenues and costs incurred directly by Innospegether with costs recharged by Ethyl for bulkrtisition services,
marketing and other services provided under the $SMAhyl's share of the net proceeds for servicas eharged
within cost of goods sold. The $38.6 million prepegnt for TMA services to be provided was treatedefsrred
income and amortized to the income statement witbst of goods sold. Net proceeds due to Ethyl \ueté within
accounts payable.

Innospec had commenced proceedings in the Londant Gbinternational Arbitration (“LCIA”) againsttiyl
regarding an alleged breach of duty by Ethyl unbderTMAs by actively marketing and selling an aitgive product.
In addition, the Company was in dispute with Ettedarding the price that it was entitled to chdogehe supply of
TEL to Ethyl in the U.S. under a separate agreerfiehs. Supply Agreement”). On June 15, 2007, hudlties
resolved all of the arbitration actions arising otithe disputes under the TMAs and the U.S. Supgiseement. The
TMAs were terminated effective April 1, 2007, amshdspec became the sole supplier of TEL outsideent).S. On
June 27, 2007, Innospec refunded Ethyl's $12.Ganilinventory deposit, advanced EtlsyEhare of net proceeds wh
had not yet been collected from TMA customers deatermination date, and made a payment of $28lion in
respect of Ethyl foregoing their entitlement tdhare of the future income stream under the TMAsatiffe April 1,
2007. In addition, the $1.9 million unamortizeddrale at March 31, 2007 of the Ethyl prepaymenséuvices to be
provided under the TMAs was written off to cosgobds sold in the income statement. During thesmaf this
settlement we incurred professional fees of $0Mani
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An intangible asset has been recognized in regpele payment to Ethyl, which represented Ethykéming their
entitlement to a share of the future income straader the TMAs effective April 1, 2007, and asstedgorofessional
fees. The TMAs covered the sale of TEL for useutomotive gasoline and aviation gasoline which veeldse within
our Octane Additives business segment and our Hestialties business segment, respectively. We &léoeated the
individual components of the intangible assetlatiable to TEL for use in automotive gasoline avidteon gasoline b
reference to the forecast future income streamsasdciated cash flows from those markets whicklEtbuld have
shared in. No residual value has been attributédetantangible asset. Accordingly, commencing Apr2007, the
amount attributed to the Octane Additives busirseggnent is being amortized straight-line to Decer8tke 2010 and
the amount attributed to the Fuel Specialties mssrsegment is being amortized straight-line tcebBéer 31, 2017.

Veritel

An intangible asset was recognized in 2001 in i@tatib amounts payable to Veritel Chemicals BV by 8wiss
subsidiary pursuant to a marketing agreement @ffeduly 1, 2001. An initial signing fee of $5.0llain was paid on
entering into the agreement. In December 2001¢ceatas given of a permanent source interruptiorchvtriggered
further payments due to Veritel of $70.0 milliomdér the terms of a separate marketing agreemémn@&thyl, $24.5
million was recoverable from Ethyl, and the Compgarshare of $50.5 million was capitalized by ouri&nsubsidiary.
The asset is fully amortized as at December 317200

Technology

Following the acquisition of the remaining 50% ohbspec Fuel Specialties LLC (previously known ateOStarreon
LLC) on July 8, 2004, the Company recognized aarigible asset of $2.3 million in respect of varitecshnological
approvals the business has received from certditargiand civilian authorities. The approvals asta barrier to entry
to any potential competitor in the market who wowidh to supply these products.

An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recogniredespect of a number of specialized manufactupigesses carri
out by Innospec Widnes Limited (previously knownA@aema Fine Chemicals Limited) following the acdtie of that
entity in August 2004.

Both of these assets have an expected life oféansyand will be amortized on a straight-line baser this period. No
residual value is anticipated.

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC), the Company ggtred an
intangible asset totalling $7.1 million, $4.2 nati of which was in relation to customer lists acgdi This asset has an
expected life of thirteen years and will be amedion a straight-line basis over this period. Nod@al value is
anticipated.
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Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in régddaoth the Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (presgly known as
Octel Starreon LLC) ($9.0 million), and Innospecdiés Limited (previously known as Aroma Fine Chealsic
Limited) ($2.8 million) acquisitions. These reléateongoing customer relationships. These have paaed life of ten
years and will be amortized on a straight-line asier that period. No residual value is anticigate

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC), the Company ggtped an
intangible asset of $2.9 million in respect of péseand trademarks. These have an expected lisnaofears and will b
amortized on a straight-line basis over that period

Other
The remaining balance relates chiefly to softwargwhich are amortized over 3 years.

The Company adopted FAS 1429odwill and Other Intangible Assetsffective January 1, 2002. This requires that
intangible assets should be subject to an annyzinment review, or between years if events occwircumstances
change which suggest that an impairment may haseraad. The Company has elected to perform its @rtests in
respect of its intangible assets as of Decembea8h year. At the end of the fourth quarter of 200& Company
performed its annual impairment review of intangibksets and believes that no impairment exists.

Intangible asset amortization expense was $161®mil$12.7 million and $12.7 million in 2007, 20@6d 2005,
respectively.

Future amortization expense is estimated to be ®8l@&n per annum for the three years to 2010, tresh $3.6 million
per annum in 2011 and 2012.

Note 11. Deferred Finance Costs

The Company entered into a three and one halffyearcing facility on December 13, 2005 (see Neatg This
replaced the previous Company debt facility whigisted at December 31, 2004. The net book amouthteofleferred
finance costs which had been capitalized as atrektlie refinancing in January 2004, some $1.4ionilat the
beginning of 2005, was amortized in full during 8G% a consequence of the refinancing.

In 2006 and 2005, $0.5 million and $2.1 millionrefinancing costs were capitalized, respectivehese were incurred
in relation to the refinancing entered into on Deber 13, 2005. These will be amortized over thesetgd life of the
agreement using the effective interest method.

(in millions) 2007 2006
Gross cos $2€ $2.€
Accumulated amortizatio (2.1 (2.0
Exchange effec (0.2 —
$0.3 $1€
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Amortization expense was $1.1 million, $1.1 milliand $1.3 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respetyivThe charge
is included in interest expense (see Note 2).

Note 12.  Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the fahg:

(in millions) 2007 2006
Land $ 8.2 $ 82
Buildings 5.C 4.€
Equipment 100.: 89.2
Work in progres: 5.8 34
119.¢ 105.t
Less accumulated depreciati (53.9) (39.0

$ 66.2 $ 66.5

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decan®ie 2007 $nil million (2006 — $0.1 million) is nespect of assets
held under capital leases. These assets were gallyccomputer hardware in 2006.

Depreciation charges were $13.3 million, $13.6iorilland $14.7 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, resipely.
The estimated additional cost to complete workrogpess is $1.6 million (2006 — $3.1 million).
Note 13. Plant Closure Provisions

The liability for estimated closure costs of Innesjg Octane Additives manufacturing facilities umés costs for
personnel reductions (severance), decontaminatidreavironmental remediation activities (remedmtiwhen demar
for TEL diminishes. Severance provisions have bien made in relation to the Fuel Specialties hadictive
Chemicals businesses.

Movements in the provisions are summarized asvi@io

2007 2007 2007 2007 2006
Other
Severanci Restructuring Remediatior

(in millions) Total Total
Total at January $ 38 $ 0.3 $ 23.7 $27.¢ $31.1
Charge for the perio 0.t 2.t 1.3 4.3 6.1
Expenditure (2.0 (2.2 2.7 (5.9 (10.2)
Exchange effec 0.1 — 0.t 0.€ 0.8
Total at December 3 2.4 0.€ 23.¢ 26.¢ 27.¢
Due within one yea (1.9 (0.3 (2.2 (4.4 (5.6
Balance at December : $ 0t $ 0.3 $ 21.€ $22.4 $22.2
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Severance charges are recognized in the inconerstat as restructuring costs along with otheruesiring costs.
Remediation costs are recognized in cost of goolds s

Severance

A charge of $0.5 million was recognized in respgd reduction in Active Chemicals United Kingdoeelkicount ($0.
million) and additional payments in respect of imener CEO ($0.1 million).

Other Restructuring

The $2.5 million charge primarily relates to Unit€thgdom site clearance ($1.2 million) and relocatof our
European Headquarters to the Ellesmere Port €t& (sillion).

Remediation

Total costs for remediation are evaluated on alaedpasis to take account of expenditure incurratita amend the
scope of future activities in the light of findinfyfem projects carried out. A detailed review of #xpected future costs
of decontamination and remediation at the Ellesrfemn site was concluded in December 2004. Thdtsesere
summarized in a discounted cash flow model andebelts are reflected herein.

Remediation expenditure against provisions was filllibn, $1.3 million and $2.2 million in 2007, 26, and 2005,
respectively.

The remediation provision represents the fair valude Company’s liability recognized under FAS31Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligatio. The accretion expense recognized under FAS 12080 was $2.3 million. This
charge was offset in 2007 by $1.0 million in regpe#@ reduction in the scope and cost of fututesgies to be
performed in the light of findings from projectsigad out.

The Company records environmental liabilities wiiegy are probable and costs can be estimated raalgoiihe
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future costs, and has tplgawth
environmental legislation in the relevant countriBlse Company views the costs of vacating our raited Kingdom
site as a contingent liability because there ipmsent intention to exit the site. The Companyfuebker determined
that, due to the uncertain product life of TEL,tmadarly in the market for aviation gas, therestgisuch uncertainty as
to the timing of such cash flows that it is not gibte to estimate these flows sufficiently reliabdyrecognize a
provision.
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Note 14. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

(in millions) 2007 2006
Senior term loal $ 75.C $ 90.C
Revolving credi 6.C 58.C
Capital lease — 0.1
81.C 148.]
Less current portio (20.0 (15.7)

$61.C $133.(

Payments of interest on long-term debt were $6ldomj $9.3 million and $7.6 million in 2007, 20@&d 2005,
respectively.

The net cash outflow in respect of refinancing segis $nil million, $0.5 million and $2.0 million 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

The financing package agreed in January 2004, mwathded in August 2004, comprised a term loan 00$@dlion anc
a revolving credit facility of $110 million. Therta loan was repayable in annual instalments oveetand one half
years. The revolving facility was available throaghthe loan period until July 2007. There was $iillion
outstanding under the terms of this facility at Baber 31, 2004.

On December 13, 2005 the Company entered into meeagnt with a syndicate of banks for a new teramn lof $100
million repayable over three and one half yearsth@fterm loan $10 million, $15 million and $20lkon was repaid
on July 31, 2006, January 31, 2007, and Januar®I8, respectively. A final repayment of $55 roifliis due on
June 12, 2009. An additional revolving credit faigilvas also agreed which will expire on June 12 This
revolving credit facility was initially $67.1 mithn but was then increased by $32.9 million to $i@0on on June 12,
2006 when The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC and Natidwstralia Bank Limited joined the syndicate efidling
banks. There was $81.0 million outstanding undisrftcility at December 31, 2007.

The facility contains terms which, if breached, ‘ebresult in the loan becoming repayable on demlndquires,
among other matters, compliance with two financ@aienant ratios. These ratios are (1) the ratioedfebt to EBITD;
and (2) the ratio of net interest to EBITA. EBITR#d EBITA are non U.S. GAAP measures of liquidigfided in the
finance facility. In the event that the ratio ot debt to EBITDA exceeds 2.0 then in addition tesi covenants, the
facility also requires a “look forward” test and atditional financial covenant ratio in the formrat operating cash
flow before finance costs to scheduled debt amairtm and interest costs. This “look forward” tests not applicable
to the Company during 2007 due to such ratio notgoexceeded.
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Management believes that the Company has not beddbkse covenants throughout 2007. The facilisgeaired by a
number of fixed and floating charges over certasets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

No assets held under capital leases were capidadizgng 2007 (200- $nil). $0.1 million of capital repayments were
made during 2007 (2006 - $0.2 million).

The following table presents the projected annuatiunities for the next four years after 2007:

Revolving
Term credit
(in millions) loan facility Total
2008 $20.C $ — $20.C
2009 55.C 6.C 61.C
2010 — — —
2011 — — —

$75.C $ 6.C $81.C

The weighted average rate of interest on borromimas 6.5% at December 31, 2007 and 6.6% at Dece3ibh@006.

Note 15. Deferred Income

Movements in deferred income are summarized asvisl

(in millions) 2007 2006
Receivec $39.5 $39.1
Amortized (38.6) (36.2)
0.€ 2.€
Less: current portio (0.1 (2.0
$ 0.8 $ 0.¢

Deferred income of $38.6 million relates to amoustived from Ethyl relating to a prepayment fenvices to be
provided under the sales and marketing agreem&mAs”) with two of our Swiss subsidiaries, effeeti January 1,
2000. Following the termination of the TMAs effeiApril 1, 2007 the unamortized balance was writiéf to cost of

goods sold in the income statement (see Note 10).

The remainder relates to $0.7 million of post asijioin government grants received by Innospec Lé&timdH, and
$0.2 million of government grants and advance tgragments received by Innospec Widnes Limited\jotesly
known as Aroma Fine Chemicals Limited).

85



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)
Note 16.  Stockholders’ Equity

On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that thel Bé®irectors had approved a 2-for-1 stock dplibe effected
in the form of a 100% stock dividend. Stockholda&frsecord as of July 6, 2007 received one additishare of
Innospec Inc. common stock for every share theyeanon that date. The shares were distributed gn20yl2007.
Stock option holders received one additional optarevery option they held and the original exgegorices for these
options were halved to reflect the stock split. Tdiwing table has been retrospectively adjustedhis stock split.

Common Stock Treasury Stock
(number of shares in thousands 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
At January 1 29,55  29,55f 29,55f 5,74¢ 490¢ 4,87¢
Exercise of option — — — (78€6) (405 (269
Stock purchase — — — 814 1,25( 294
At December 3: 29,55  29,55f  29,55f 5777 5774¢ 4,904

At December 31, 2007, the Company had authorizethoan stock of 40,000,000 shares (December 31, 2006
40,000,000). Issued shares at December 31, 200&,28¢554,500 (December 31, 2006 — 29,554,500y dnag
treasury stock of 5,777,417 shares (December 31§ 2(5,749,494).

Note 17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amour &ir values of the Company’s financial instrunseat
December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying
Value Fair

(in millions) Amount Amount Value
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivale $ 24: $24.2 $ 101.¢ $101.¢
Long-term debt (including current

portion) 81.C 81.C 148.1 148.1
Derivatives:
Interest rate swaf (0.5) (0.5) 04 04
Interest rate swap optic — — (0.2) (0.2)
Foreign exchange contrac (0.9 (0.9 0.4 0.4
Commodity swap $ (0.5 $(0.5) $ — $ —

The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalentBhe carrying amount approximates fair value becatfisiee short-term maturities of such
instruments.
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Long-term debtThe carrying amount of long-term borrowings at &bke interest rates approximates fair value.

Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives that relates to iagtmrate swaps, interest rate swap options, fomighange
contracts and commodity swaps was estimated basedreent settlement prices and comparable costresihg
current assumptions.

The cumulative gains and losses on the interestsiaaps and commodity swaps are summarized asviollo

2007 200¢
(in millions)
Balance at January $04 $0.1
Change in fair valu (1.9 0.2
Balance at December . $(1.0) $0.4

The interest rate swaps have been designatedashdlow hedge against $50.0 million of underlyilogting rate debt
obligations that stood at $81.0 million at Decem®Er2007. All of the swaps mature on June 12, 2009

The commodity swaps are used to manage the Congeagh flow exposure to raw material price volgtilThey hawv
been designated as cash flow hedges and all themodity swaps qualify for hedge accounting as atdbduer 31,
2007.

The interest rate and commaodity hedges were detexdrtd be effective and consequently the unrealzssiof $1.0
million in 2007 (2006 - $0.4 million gain) has berworded in other comprehensive income. Ineffeciss was
determined to be immaterial in 2007 and 2006 arcdraingly no gain or loss was recognized in earsingeither
period. The Company does not expect any signifipartion of the loss to be reclassified into eagsim the next 12
months.

Foreign exchange contracts primarily relate to @m$ entered into to hedge future known transastoy hedge
balance sheet net cash positions. The movemetits icarrying and fair values of these contraclargely due to
changes in exchange rates against the U.S. dolarU.S. dollar has weakened against other majoeiccies across
2007.

Note 18. Financial Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivativencial instruments and does not trade them.Jd&mpany
does use derivatives to manage certain interestfiaeign exchange exposures and raw materiahgrexposures.

The Company uses interest rate swaps, floors,rantid cap agreements to reduce the impact of ceangeterest rate
on its floating rate debt. The swap agreements@m&acts to exchange floating rate for fixed iag¢mpayments
periodically over the life of the agreements withthe exchange of the underlying notional amourit® notional
amounts of interest rate agreements are used teumgeilterest to be paid or received and do noesegmt the amount
of exposure to credit loss.
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The Company has determined to hedge a proportitmeabutstanding floating rate debt obligation.aA®ecember 31,
2007 the Company had the following interest ragtrinments in effect (notional amounts in millions):

Notional

Amount Strike
(in millions) Rate Expiry date
Interest swa| $ 20.C 4.767% June 12, 20C

$ 15.C 4.780(% June 12, 20C
$ 15.C 4.755(% June 12, 20C

The Company has hedged the price of certain rawenmaé with commodity swaps. As at December 31,720
Company had the following summarized commodity svap

Carrying Fair
Notional Value
(in millions) Quantity Amount
Commodity swaj 450 metric tonne ($ 0.5 ($0.5)

The Company sells a range of Fuel SpecialtiesyAdiihemicals and Octane Additives to major oilnefies and
chemical companies throughout the world. CredittBnongoing credit evaluation and account momigprocedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralatsgenerally required.

Note 19. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgagaarily for office space, motor vehicles and eas items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are ¢xgé¢c be renewed and replaced in the normal cairsasiness.
Rental expense was $2.1 million in 2007, $1.9 onillin 2006 and $2.4 million in 2005. Future comnatrts under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

2008 $1.€
2009 1.4
2010 1.4
2011 1.C
2012 1.C
Thereaftel 2.6

$9.4

Commitments in respect of environmental remediatibiigations are disclosed in Note 13.
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Contingencies
Bycosin Disposal

Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of @gban Assets Control Regulations to the Officeaveign Assets
Control. Given the international scope of its operatidhg,Company is subject to laws of many differensglictions,
including laws relating to the imposition of restions on trade and investment with various erstjteersons and
countries, some of which laws are conflicting. 002 the Company reviewed, as it does periodicaipects of its
operations in respect of such restrictions, andrdehed to dispose of certain non-core, non-U.Bsisliaries of
Bycosin AB. Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries hadrbergaged in transactions and activities invol\@udpan persons
and entities before the acquisition of the Bycdaioup by the Company in June 2001, and such sasdiwere
continuing to engage in such transactions andiiet\at the time of the disposal of the non-canelfSpecialties
business and related assets in November 2004. @en\zer 15, 2004, Bycosin AB, a wholly-owned sulzsigiof the
Company organized under the laws of Sweden (nowvhkres Innospec Sweden AB, the “Seller”), enteréa &
Business and Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agmemweith Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB (the “Purchgsdiakar
Bystrom and others as the Purchaser’s guarantodsQatel Petroleum Specialties Limited (now knowriranospec
Fuel Specialties Limited) as the Seller’s guargrdad completed the all-cash transaction contegldiereby
(together with related transactions, the “Transa)i The Agreement provided for, among other tkin@ the disposal
of certain non-core Fuel Specialties business aladead manufacturing and other assets of the Sahek (i) the supply
and distribution of certain power products to dertgeographic regions. The net consideration pgithb Purchaser
was approximately US$2.9 million.

Following completion of the Transaction, the Comparade a voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Offic&ofeign Assel
Control (“OFAC”) regarding transactions and actestengaged in by certain non-U.S. subsidiarigkefCompany.
Disclosures, amongst other items, included thaagwegate monetary value of the transactions wvgIlCuban
persons and entities conducted by the Company’d.h8nsubsidiaries since January 1999 is approxin$26.6
million.

At this time, however, management believes thabitld be speculative and potentially misleadingthe Company to
predict the specific nature or amount of penalties OFAC might eventually assess against it. Whdealties could be
assessed on different bases, if OFAC assessedipsragjainst the Company on a “performance of ectdrbasis”, the
applicable regulations provide for penalties, ia tiase of civil violations of the Cuban Assets @uriRegulations (31
CFR. Part 515) (“CACR?”), of the lesser of $65,0@0 piolation or the value of the contract. Sinceutay 1999, non-
U.S. subsidiaries of the Company have entereddi@tcontracts with Cuban entities, each of whichld¢twe considered
a separate violation of the CACR by OFAC. OFAC rtel§e the position that the CACR should be integutetr
applied in a different manner, potentially evemp#omit the assessment of penalties equal to otegréaan the value of
the business conducted with Cuban persons oresatiti
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The Company has considered the range of possiltitemes and potential penalties payable. In accoslaith the
Company’s accounting policies, provision has beadefor management’s current best estimate ofdtenpal
liability, including anticipated legal costs. Hovesyshould the underlying assumptions prove inctrtae actual
outcome could differ materially from managementisrent expectations. Management is not able tones# the
amount of any additional loss, if any.

If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or ferjrwere found not to have complied with the CA@, Company
believes that it could be subject to fines or ottieit or criminal penalties which could be matéria

Oil for Food

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamhranenced
an investigation to determine whether any violaiohlaw had occurred in connection with transaxgtioonducted by
the Company, including its wholly owned indirecbsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”),2wiss
company, under the United Nations Oil for Food Paog (“OFFP”) between June 1, 1999 and Decembe2@13. As
part of its investigation, the SEC issued a subagequiring the production of certain documentsluding documents
relating to these transactions, by the CompanyAdonr. Upon receipt of the SEC’s notification amatial subpoena,
the Company undertook a review of its participatimthe OFFP. On October 10, 2007 and Novembe®Q7 2he SEC
served two additional subpoenas on the CompanyseTadditional subpoenas required the productiaoofiments
relating notably to the OFFP but also relatingréms$actions conducted by the Company or its sulrsédi with state
owned or controlled entities between June 1, 19@Pthe date of such subpoenas, relating to itolL®eign agents
and the possibility of extra-contractual paymené&mto secure business with foreign governmentaie=n In a co-
ordinated investigation, the Company has also eatacted by the U.S. Department of Justice (“D@dfgarding the
possibility of violations of relevant laws in theeas contained in the SEC subpoenas as well agaaddipreliminary
inquiries regarding compliance with anti-trust lawwkating to U.S. and international tetra ethydl@aarkets. The
subjects into which the SEC and DOJ have inquinetide areas that involve certain former and care@ecutives of
the Company including the current CEO. The Company,its officers and directors, are cooperatintpwie SEC and
DOJ investigations. On February 19, 2008, the Bo&i@irectors of the Company formed a committee pased of th:
chairmen of the Board, the Audit Committee andNleeninating and Governance Committee respectivdllpf avthom
are independent directors. Counsel to the Compganyjding assistance to the committee has, on behd#ie
committee, conducted and will continue to conductrestigation into the circumstances giving ts¢he SEC and
DOJ investigations. Counsel will report directlyth@ committee and will assist in connection witteractions with the
SEC and DOJ. While the outcome of these investigatis uncertain, a number of companies involvetienOFFP
investigations have been required to disgorge tsrafid pay civil fines and penalties up to $30iomill As a result of
information discovered in the course
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of the investigation, we expect that we will beuiegd to disgorge profits and pay fines and peesiftihat could be of
similar magnitude. Any settlement of the SEC andiix@uiries relating to matters beyond the OFFRccequire the
Company to make significant additional disgorgeragpénalty and fine payments. However at this tim@agement |
not able to predict with certainty the level of Bdmes and penalties. Because of the uncertaiaissciated with the
ultimate outcome of these investigations and tlstscto the Company of responding and participatirtgese on-going
investigations, no assurance can be given thatltimate costs and sanctions that may be imposed up will not
have a material adverse effect on our results efains, financial position and cash flows froneigting activities. A
December 31, 2007 we have accrued $3.7 millioespect of probable future legal expenses in resgebts matter
and have provided no additional accruals for thastem.

Other Legal Matters

We are involved from time to time in claims anddegroceedings that result from, and are incideiotathe conduct of
our business including product liability claims.efFa are no other material pending legal proceedmasich the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party,favlsich any of their property is subject, otherrtt@adinary, routine
litigation incidental to their respective businesse

Guarantees

The Company and certain of its consolidated suasal were contingently liable as of December 80,72 for $8.7
million, primarily relating to guarantees of delbtadfiliated companies and performance under catdrantered into as
a normal business practice. This included guararmdéaon-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties.

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsrajgnthe Company would be required to perform dtidie
affiliated company fail to fulfil its obligationsnder the arrangements. In some cases, the guasnsegements have
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms giuamantees
from securities held of the guaranteed partie®tass

The Company and its affiliates have numerous l@ngrtsales and purchase commitments in their vabaasess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled witb adverse consequences material to the Company.

Indemnities and Warranties

In connection with the disposal of Octel Waste Mpamaent Limited on June 26, 2003, the Company peal/zkrtain
warranties. The Company would be required to perfsinould the contingent liabilities in respectlwé tvarranties
become actual and could be required to make maxifature payments of £3.59 million ($7.1 million)h&@re are no
recourse provisions enabling recovery of any ansfrom third parties nor are any assets held datecdl in respect «
the warranties.
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Note 20. Profit on Disposals

2007 200t
(in millions) 2006
Profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdom restiage — —
$ $9.€ $
Prepaid disposal costs — —
(0.9
$ $9.2 $

The profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdoralrestate relates to the sale in August 2006 oCibrapanys former
Fuel Technology Centre in Bletchley and sale ily 2006 of the Company’s former sports and sociabh.cl

Prepaid disposal costs in 2006 relate to experediiging incurred in respect of one of our U.S. farmanufacturing
sites, in advance of it being marketed and dispo$ed

On November 15, 2004, the Company disposed ofinartanufacturing and other assets held by our Sshedi
subsidiary, Bycosin AB. As part of the sale of 8wedish manufacturing and other assets, BycosMedaco SA de

CV and Bycosin SA de CV, non-core subsidiarienobkspec Sweden AB, were also disposed of in timgirety. As
there will be no ongoing involvement with this mess, this element of the transaction has beeandad|within
discontinued operations (see Note 21). As the Compall continue to source product to support therime and powe
markets from Sweden, the sale of the Swedish maturfag and other assets does not meet the crisgdaown in

FAS 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lomgetl Assetdor inclusion within discontinued operations.

Note 21. Discontinued Operations

On December 31, 2005, the Company disposed of bmecore businesses, Octel Performance Chemicalaihacthe
Gamlen Industries SA waste water treatment busifiéms consideration received was $1.2 million ah® $nillion,
respectively. The net assets disposed of wererilibn which comprised:

Gamlen
Octel Industries SA
Performance

waste water

Chemicals treatment

(in millions) Inc. business
Accounts receivabl $ 1.C $ 0.4
Inventories 0. 0.t
Property, plant and equipme 0.t 0.1

Goodwill 0.t —
Accounts payabl (0.9 0.3

Intercompany balance 0.4 —
$ 2.4 $ 0.7
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The net loss on disposal for Octel Performance Gtaminc. was $1.6 million which includes the fuets for the year
of $0.4 million.

The net profit on disposal of the Gamlen Indust8&swaste water treatment business was $0.2 millibich includes
the net loss for the year of $0.3 million, professil fees of $0.2 million and a tax charge of $@iflion.

On November 15, 2004, the Company disposed of ecoombusiness, Bycosin Mexico, for consideratib®9
million. The net assets disposed of were $4.8 onilivhich comprised:

(in millions)

Cash $0.
Accounts receivabl 3.4
Inventories 0.8
Prepaid expenst 0.€
Property, plant and equipme 0.2
Goodwill 2.7
Accounts payabl (0.9
Intercompany balance (3.2)

$ 4.8

The net loss on disposal was $3.9 million whicHudes the net income of Bycosin Mexico for 2004athe date of
disposal of $0.4 million, professional fees of $Miflion and a tax charge of $0.2 million.

Note 22. Other Balance Sheet Information

The Company holds investments that are not coratelitlor equity accounted since we do not have taiting
financial interest and they are not material, respely. These investments are held at cost lesgigion for
impairment. The principal affiliate is as follows:

Ownership interest

Ferrous Cory 47. 1%

In 2007 the Company sold its 27.5% share of Potd¢dfmited for $0.1 million generating a profit $0.1 million. In
2006 the Company sold its 20% share of Deurex &Pb share of Octel Chemay (Pty) Limited, bothrforprofit or
loss.

All of the unconsolidated affiliates are privatélgld companies and as such quoted market pricesaeerailable. No
dividends were received during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Note 23. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemisn

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS Fair, Value Measurementsvhich defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expandsldssces about fair
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value measurements. The Company is required tot &hdp 157 effective the first quarter of 2008. Te@mpany does
not believe that the adoption of this standard have a material impact on its results of operatiéinancial position c
cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 1b8e Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Foel Liabilities. FAS
159 expands the scope of what entities may carigiratalue by offering an irrevocable option t@oed many types of
financial assets and liabilities at fair value. @f@s in fair value would be recorded in an entiilgtome statement.
This accounting standard also establishes presamtatd disclosure requirements that are intendéadilitate
comparisons between entities that choose differesaisurement attributes for similar types of asmedsliabilities. FAS
159 will be effective for fiscal years beginningeafNovember 15, 2007 though earlier applicatiopeismitted under
certain circumstances. The Company will adopt FAS éffective the first quarter of 2008. The Compdogs not
believe that the adoption of this standard willénavmaterial impact on its results of operatiomsyfcial position or
cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS I$0ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&htements — an
amendment of ARB No. 5This statement establishes accounting and reygostandards for the noncontrolling intel
in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of lassdiary. This statement is effective prospectiyelcept for certain
retrospective disclosure requirements, for fiserg beginning after December 15, 2008. The Comigacwyrrently
evaluating the impact that the adoption of FAS WiiDhave on its financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS 14B&siness Combinations — a replacement of FASBrSéateNo. 141
which significantly changes the principles and rezgaents for how the acquirer of a business reaegnand measures
in its financial statements the identifiable asseguired, the liabilities assumed, and any nomodimg interest in the
acquiree. The statement also provides guidancetmgnizing and measuring the goodwill acquirethenbusiness
combination and determines what information toldse to enable users of the financial statemengsatuate the
nature and financial effects of the business coatlmn. This statement is effective prospectivekcept for certain
retrospective adjustments to deferred tax balaricefiscal years beginning after December 15, 200 Company is
currently evaluating the impact that the adoptibRAS 141R will have on its financial statements.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this regoetCompany carried out an evaluation under thersigion and with
the participation of our management, including@eef Executive Officer and the Chief Financial i0éfr, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the@my’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (dsdd in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities and Engb@ct of 1934).

Based upon this evaluation of disclosure controts@rocedures, the Company’s Chief Executive Offesel Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Companysslosure controls and procedures were effectsvef
December 31, 2007, in timely making known mateantdrmation relating to the Company and the Company
consolidated subsidiaries required to be disclaséde Company’s reports filed or submitted undher Exchange Act.

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estab§ and maintaining adequate internal controt éimancial
reporting. The Compang’internal control over financial reporting is ®@ess designed to provide reasonable assu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exepurposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @e¢taisstatements. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effeetiess to future periods are subject to the rigkdbratrols may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehgesCompany’s internal control over financi@porting as of
December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, reamag used the criteria internal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatufrtse Treadway Commission (“COSQO”).

Based on the evaluation the Company concludedhkaCompany maintained effective internal contr@rdinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on @iterthelnternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the
COSO.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporthg

The Company is continuously seeking to improvegtfieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This results in refinements to processesighout the
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Company. However, there has been no change indhg@ny’s internal control over financial reportitigring the

most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéf@, or is reasonably likely to materially affebie Companys interna
control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B Other Information
None.
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PART llI
Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Information under the heading “Management” setioahe Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting afcRholders to
be held on May 6, 2008 (“the Proxy Statement’hiorporated herein by reference.

At its Board Meeting on February 24, 2004, the Canypformally adopted a Code of Ethics. Any stockleolwho
requires a copy of the Code of Ethics, Corporatee@mance Guidelines or any of the Board Committearters may
obtain one by writing to the General Counsel, Ip@asinc., Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil SitesdRdEllesmere
Port, Cheshire, CH65 4EY, e-mail investor@innospecom. These documents can also be accessed via the
Company’s website, www.innospecinc.com

Information regarding the composition and the wogki of the Audit Committee are included under thadings
“Corporate Governance — Committees of the Boarfdictors — Audit Committee” and “Audit Committe@port” in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated hereirefgrence.

Item 11 Executive Compensatior

The information under the heading “Compensatiorciision and Analysis” in the Proxy Statement isiporated
herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information under the heading “Security Owngrsti Certain Beneficial Owners and Managementhia Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Shares Authorized for 1ssuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information contained in the table entitled tifg Compensation Plan Information” under the hegdEquity
Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement is pa@ted herein by reference.

The current limit for the total amount of sharesahitan be issued or awarded under the Compamngsshare option
plans is 6,086,000.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information under the headings “Transactiorth &ikecutives, Officers, Directors and Others” aé@drtain Other
Transactions and Relationships” in the Proxy Stat#rs incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information with respect to fees and services eelad the Company’s independent registered pubtownting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is contained in thetATmmmittee Report under the heading “Principat@uantant
Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement anc¢@porated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
@ (1 Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Innospecdnd its subsidiaries and related notes thereto
together with the report thereon of Pricewaterh@aspers LLP dated February 25, 2008, appear on
pages 49 through 94 of the 2007 Form 10-K to stolddrs, are incorporated in Item 8.
2 Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules have been ométede the information required to be submittec
been included in the financial statements or bex#usy are either not applicable or not required
under the Rules of Regulations S-X.
(3) Exhibits
2.1 Transfer and Distribution Agreement, dated as afil&3, 1998, between Great Lakes Chemical Corjpmm:
(“GLCC") and the Registrant. (.
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioin® Registrant. (1
3.2 Amended and Restated -laws of the Registrant. (.
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate. (
4.2 Form of Rights Agreement between the Registrantrarsd Chicago Trust Company of New York, as Rights
Agent. (2)
4.3 Form of Certificate of Designations, Rights andféences of Series A Junior Participating PrefeBtxtk
of the Registrant. (2
4.4 Indenture dated as of May 1, 1998 among the RegistOctel Developments PLC and the IBJ Schroder
Bank and Trust Company, as trustee.
4.5 Form of 10% Senior Notes (contained in Exhibit ds4Exhibit A). (4)
4.€ Registration Rights Agreement dated as of AprilI98 among the Registrant, Octel Developments PLC
and the initial purchasers. (
4.7 Purchase Agreement dated as of April 30, 1998 atfumdnitial Purchasers, Octel Developments PLC and

the Registrant. (4
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4.8

4.1C

4.11

10.1
10.2
10.c
10.4
10.t
10.¢
10.7
10.€

10.€
10.1(C
10.11
10.1z
10.1¢
10.1¢
10.1¢
10.1¢
10.15

Share purchase agreement between OBOAdIer Holdingted and The Associated Octel Company
Limited relating to the sale and purchase of thelelof the issued share capital of OBOAdler Company
Limited, dated June 1, 1999. {

Amendment to Rights Agreement. (!

Share Repurchase Plan between the Company anMdrégan Securities Inc. dated February 16, 2006.
(23)

Share Repurchase Plan between the Company anMaréan Securities Inc. dated August 21, 2006.
(25)

Tax Disaffiliation Agreement between GLCC and thegRtrant. (1

Corporate Services Transition Agreement betweenGh@d the Registrant. (

Supply Agreement between GLCC and the Registrarth®osupply of ethylene dibromide. |

Supply Agreement between GLCC and the RegistrarthioSupply of anhydrous hydrogen bromide.
Supply Agreement for the Supply of 10% sodium hydte solution. (1

Ethyl Corporation Market and Sales Agreement

Innospec Inc. Non Employee Directors Stock OptianP(4)

Employment Agreement between Associated Octel leidhénd Steve W Williams, Geoff J Hignett,
Graham M Leathes and Robert A Lee.

Employment Agreement between Associated Octel leidhénd Dennis J Kerrison. (
Agreement between GLCC and the Registrant for tileManufacturing of Stadis Product. (
Innospec Inc. Time Restricted Stock Option Plah

Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option. R&)

Associated Octel Savin-Related Stock Option Plan. (

Form of Innospec Inc. Approved Company Share Ofiam. (8)

Form of Innospec Inc. Profit Sharing Share ScheBj

Employment Agreement between The Associated Oagigany Limited and Alan G Jarvis. (
Employment offer letter from The Associated Octehtpany Limited to John P Tayler. {
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10.1¢
10.1¢
10.2C
10.21
10.2Z
10.2:
10.2¢
10.2¢
10.2¢
10.25
10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3(C

10.31

10.32

10.3¢
10.3¢
10.3¢
10.3¢

Consultancy Agreement between Innospec Inc. angéiR&Bew. (9

Employment offer letter from The Associated Octehgpany Limited to lan A Watling. (1:
Employment offer letter from The Associated Octehipany Limited to Philip J Boon. (1
Executive Services agreement, Richard Shone

Contract of Employment, Sharon Todd. (

Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie. (J

Contract of Employment, Paul Jennings. (

Contract of Employment, Alexander Dobbie. (

Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessner.

Contract of Employment, Andrew Hartley. (1

$100,000,000 term loan agreement between Innosigecdctel Associates, Barclays Capital, Barclays
Bank plc and others, dated June 3, 1999

US$250,000,000 Facilities Agreement dated 29 Octab@l for Innospec Inc. with Barclays Capital
acting as mandated Lead Arranger and Barclays Bbn#cting as Agent and Security Agent. (

Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated 301Ja20@4, relating to a Facilities Agreement, d:
29 October 2001 (as amended), by and among thestRagi Barclays Bank plc, Lloyds TSB Bank plc,
The Governor and Company of The Bank of Scotland,certain other parties thereto. (.

Business and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated Nevelrip2004, between Bycosin AB, Hakan
Bystrom and others, and Octel Petroleum Specidlireged. (16)

Supply Agreement, dated November 15, 2004, betBgensin AB and Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB.
(16)

Resignation Agreement of Mr. D. Kerrison, datediAp2, 2005. (18
Contract of Employment, Paul W. Jennings, datede®eiper 21, 2005. (1¢
Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated @r 11, 2005. (2(
Fixed term agreement, James F. Lawler, dated Des=ei2005. (21
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10.37%

10.3¢
12.1
13.1
14
21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1

31.z

32.1

32.2

99.1

Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated 13 ereR005, relating to a Facilities Agreement,
dated 29 October 2001 (as amended), by and ameriRRabistrant, Barclays Bank plc, Lloyds TSB Bank
plc, The Governor and Company of The Bank of Sodtl@and certain other parties thereto. (

Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated Juhe2806. (24
Statement Regarding Computation of Financial Refitesl herewith).
Opinion of Ernst & Young LLP on 1997 Combined Fingh Statements. (¢
The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics. (:

Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (fileddweith).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing (filed herewith)
Powers of Attorney of Directors and Officers of fRegistrant. (4

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuao 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith

Consolidated Financial Statements of OBOAdler Camydamited as of June 30, 1999 and for the year
then ended. (7
Notes

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s almeant dated April 21, 1998, to a
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Fb@ri2B/A previously filed on
April 10, 1998.

3) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s almesnt dated May 4, 1998 to a
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

4) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s FSrhpreviously filed on
October 1, 199¢
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(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

9)

(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-Q on November 10, 199
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on November 12, 199
Filed with the Compar’s Form -K/A on January 20, 200!
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 26, 199¢
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 27, 200(C
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on July 21, 200C

Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 26, 2001
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 25, 200z
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 28, 200z
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on February 9, 200«
Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 15, 20
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on November 19, 200-
Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 31, 200=
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on April 12, 2005
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on September 27, 200
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on October 12, 200!
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on December 7, 200.
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on December 19, 200
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on February 17, 200!
Filed with the Compar’s Form K on June 30, 200t

Filed with the Compar’s Form &K on August 21, 200¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. /s/ Paul W. Jennings
By:
(Registrant PAUL W. JENNINGS
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 25, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptie following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatgsaindicated as of February 25, 2008:

/s/ lan P. Cleminson Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

lan P. Cleminsol

/s/ Robert E. Bew Chairman and Director

Dr Robert E. Bev

/s/ Hugh G. C. Aldous Director
Hugh Aldous

/sl Peter Fearn Director
Peter Fear

/sl Charles M. Hale Director

Charles M. Hale

/s/ Martin M. Hale Director
Martin M. Hale
/s/ Samuel A. Haubold Director

Samuel A. Haubol

/sl James Puckridge Director

James Puckridg

/s/ Joachim Roeser Director

Joachim Roese
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EXHIBIT 12.1—STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF FIN ANCIAL RATIOS

(dollar amounts in millions except per share figure)

1. NET INCOME/(LOSS) AS A PERCENT OF SALES

A Net income/(loss
B Net sales
A% of B
2. EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE AS A PERCENT
C Income taxe:
D Income/(loss) before income tax
C% of C
3. CURRENT RATIO
E Current assetl
F Current liabilities
E:F
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE
G Net income/(loss
H Basic shares outstandil
I Diluted shares outstandit
G/H Basic earnings per she
G/l Diluted earnings per sha

Shares in thousands, earnings per share in dollars.

2007

2006

2005

2004

Exhibit 12.1

2003

$ 295 $ 114 $(1237) $ 62 $ 51E
$ 602  $5321 $ 564.¢ $ 496.¢  $ 471.¢
4.%% 2.1% (21.9% 1.2% 11.0%
$ 182 $ 204 $ 42 $ 201 $ 23z
$ 477 $ 316  $(1181) $ 320 $ 778
38.2% 64.2% (3.5)% 62.8% 30.0%
$ 2561  $ 305 @ $ 239.¢ $199.6  $ 178.¢
$ 1607  $ 142.¢  $ 140F $169..  $ 112:¢
1.6 2.1 1.7 1.2 1.6
$ 295 $ 114 $(1237) $ 62 $ 51E
23,92( 24,14 24,73 24,69 23,85(
24,83¢ 25,33¢ 24,73 25,97¢ 25,10¢
$ 122 $ 047 $ (500 $ 028 $ 217
$ 11¢ $ 04F  $ (500 $ 024 $ 2.0€




EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

AK Chemie GmbH (Germany)

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerland)
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (USA)
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Developments Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Environmental Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K.)
Innospec France SA (France)

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (USA)
Innospec International Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Sweden AB (Sweden)
Innospec Valvemaster Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K.)
Novoktan GmbH (German)

Octel Innovations Limited (U.K.)

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B83B687/ 333-124139) of Innospec Inc.

of our report dated February 25, 2008 relatindtofinancial statements and the effectivenesstefrial control over financial reporting, which
appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 25, 2008



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PAUL W. JENNINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Paul W. Jennings, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportiag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s PAuL W. JENNINGS

Paul W. Jennings
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 25, 200



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P.Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportiag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/  1AN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 25, 200



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2007 as filet thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehéhe “Report”), |, Paul W. Jennings, Presidemd £hief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135(dapted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exgkafict of 1934, an
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s PAuL W. JENNINGS

Paul W. Jennings
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 25, 200



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2007 as filet thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehg@he “Report”), |, lan P. Cleminson, Executivéc¥ President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 I.S§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thea®as-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exgkafict of 1934, an
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/  1AN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 25, 200



